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Please find attached Appendix 4E and the audited financial accounts as required pursuant to ASX Listing 
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Please note that this report has been prepared based upon audited financial information for the year 
ended 30 June 2023.  
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APPENDIX 4E 
Audited Financial Report to the Australian Securities Exchange 

Name of Entity FBR LTD 

ABN 58 090 000 276 

Financial Year Ended 30 June 2023 

Previous Corresponding Reporting Period 30 June 2022 

 

Results for Announcement to the Market 
 $ Percentage 

increase / 
(decrease) over 

previous 
corresponding 

period 

Revenue from Ordinary activities 1,662,676 117% 

Profit / (loss) from ordinary activities after tax 
attributable to members 

(22,886,197) (15%) 

Net profit / (loss) for the period attributable to 
members 

(22,886,197) (15%) 

Dividends (distributions) Amount per security Franked amount per security 

Final Dividend nil N/A 

Interim Dividend nil N/A 

Record date for determining entitlements 
to the dividends (if any) 

N/A 

Brief explanation of any of the figures reported above necessary to enable the figures to 
be understood: 

 

The directors do not intend to declare a dividend as no profit was made during the year ended 
30th June 2023. No dividends were paid during the financial year. 

 

 

Dividends 
Date the dividend is payable N/A 

Record date to determine entitlement 
to the dividend 

N/A F
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Amount per security N/A 

Total Dividend Nil 

Amount per security of foreign sourced 
dividend or distribution 

N/A 

Details of any dividend reinvestment 
plans in operation 

None 

The last date for receipt of an election 
notice for participation in any dividend 
reinvestment plans 

N/A 

 

Net Tangible Asset Backing 
 Current Period Previous 

Corresponding Period 

Net tangible asset backing per 
ordinary security (cents per 
share) 

0.67 0.38 

Net Tangible Assets exclude right-of-use property assets with a carrying value of $2,248,201 as at 30 June 
2023 

 

Other Significant Information Needed by an Investor to 
Make an Informed Assessment of the Entity’s Financial 
Performance and Financial Position 

N/A 

 

Commentary on the Results for the Period 
Revenue earned for FY23 period was $1,662,676, up 117% on the prior period (FY22 
revenue: $765,226) primarily due to the sale of residential properties from the 
Company’s Wellard portfolio. 

The Company earned an R&D Tax Rebate of $8.8m for the FY23 period, a significant 
increase on the prior period (FY22 R&D Tax Rebate: $5.9m) as a result of increased R&D 
expenditure undertaken during the period. 

As outlined in FY22, the Company significantly increased its size and capability as it 
approached the final stages of the manufacture and commissioning of the next-
generation Hadrian X®. As a result, Directors’ and employee benefits, and share based 
payments increased to $12,742,292 and $5,274,924 respectively. This increase, 
incorporated the first full year of expensing of the Hadrian development asset. F
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During the prior year, in November 2021, the Hadrian development asset was assessed 
as being ready for use and as a consequence amortisation commenced from this date. 
This also meant costs associated with the asset were no longer capitalised 

The audited loss before tax expense/benefit for the 12 months to 30 June 2023 is 
$22,886,197 an increase of 15% on the prior period of $19,978,660.  

FBR saw significant advancement toward the commercialisation of its technology over 
the period, focussing its efforts on the completion and commissioning of its flagship 
next-generation Hadrian X®.  

Over the course of the first half of FY23, manufacture and mechanical assembly 
activities on the next-generation Hadrian X® continued before reaching mechanical 
completion as announced on 20 December 2022. The next-generation Hadrian X® 
features a modular design with distributed control architecture which allows work on 
individual modules to progress independently, while also providing greater levels of 
customisation, quicker repair work and interchangeability once in service. Additionally, 
the next-generation Hadrian X® features a new and simplified Human Machine Interface 
(HMI), used throughout the testing and commissioning phase, and is intended to greatly 
enhance user experience and provide greater accessibility to machine operators when 
in the field. The next-generation Hadrian X® also features a 32-metre-long telescopic 
boom arm and a shuttle block delivery system expected to lay at speeds of up to 500 
blocks per hour, and up to three storeys high from the roadside, with the ability to lay 
within 50mm of existing wall, greatly enhancing its versatility in the built environment. 

As previously announced, FBR has entered into a two-phase Memorandum of 
Understanding with Liebherr-Mischtechnik, the world’s largest privately owned OEM, 
with the intention of cooperating to industrialise and commercialise the next-
generation Hadrian X®.  

On 28 February 2023, FBR advised that the first next-generation Hadrian X® had 
successfully demonstrated the ability to autonomously lay blocks, passing blocks 
through the entire robotic system, including through the novel shuttle block delivery 
system, before laying them. Following this, the program moved to a testing and 
calibration phase in which optimisation of the system, including further improvements 
to lay speed and calibration of DST® of the Hadrian X® before the commencement of 
field testing in the new fiscal year.  

On 13 March 2023, the Company announced that it had entered into a strategic Share 
Subscription & Share Purchase Agreement with U.K. based shareholder M & G 
Investment Management to fund A$9.14 million for the manufacture and commercial 
deployment of three next-generation Hadrian X® robots designed specifically for 
expedited use in the United States. The three U.S. specification Hadrian X® robots will 
be built on U.S. truck bases and will then be immediately deployed to offer Wall as a 
Service® via FBR’s U.S. domiciled Fastbrick Americas LLC entity. 

On 8 May 2023, FBR announced that the first next-generation Hadrian X® robot reached 
a notable milestone as part of the testing and calibration program, achieving a sustained 
lay speed of over 300 blocks per hour using USA format cement masonry blocks. This 
surpassed the previous peak lay speed recorded by its predecessor, the Hadrian X® 109. 

The successful testing and calibration of the next-generation Hadrian X® robot will 
demonstrate the potential of FBR's robotic construction technology in commercial 
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construction applications. At a 300 block per hour lay rate, the next-generation Hadrian 
X® can effectively construct more than 70 vertical square meters of wall per hour when 
working with the largest format blocks. As the testing and calibration program advances 
it is expected that the lay speed will see further improvement. 

In terms of robotic construction work and the provision of Wall as a Service®, the 
Company progressed construction at its Wellard Portfolio and at Willagee. 

The Wellard portfolio initially comprised of five undeveloped blocks of land that were 
purchased by FBR and developed utilising its Hadrian X® robot with select group of Perth 
builders.  

In the fourth quarter of FY23, the Wellard #2 and Wellard #4 properties were sold for 
A$520,000 and A$555,000 respectively. Wellard #2 is a double leaf cavity walled, four-
bedroom, two-bathroom family home with a double garage. Total wall area equated to 
355m2, which was completed in 29 laying hours, utilising standard concrete masonry 
units (CMU). Wellard #4 was built utilising Wienerberger Porotherm clay blocks, marking 
the first time in the world Wienerberger's clay blocks had been laid by a robot in the 
undertaking of commercial real-world work. This build followed the outdoor pilot build 
testing undertaken in November 2021, which sought to demonstrate Hadrian X®'s ability 
to address the European clay-block low-rise housing market, which has the potential 
for 700,000 new homes annually. 

At Willagee, continuing work which had begun in the previous period, FBR progressed 
construction on the largest and most complex project it has undertaken to date. FBR’s 
work at Willagee comprised the construction of walls for 16 two-storey townhouses, for 
Inspired Homes, a large builder of both residential and multi-unit dwellings, and 
Satterley, who are one of Australia’s largest land developers, on one of their premier 
developments in Western Australia.  

Located in two groups across the development, the northern and southern sides each 
contain eight two-storey units. The Hadrian X® (109) is robotically constructing the load 
bearing walls and internal partition walls.  

Given the complexity of the project, which included a number of first-time 
accomplishments for FBR such as common party walls between each townhouse, a 
triple-leaf cavity wall system, acoustic brick ties, as well as steel reinforcements and 
fireproofing, FBR adopted a staged approach, completing all the first story courses 
before the formation and installation of the second storey slabs and then completing 
the second storey walls, including up to a record height of 9.2 metres. The townhouses 
are located on a rising site with each townhouse standing on a different level. This 
meant that the Hadrian X® was situated on the adjacent block building below ground 
level, moving to continue work on the opposite side once a side is complete, enabling 
the next concrete slab to be poured. 

Work on the development continued through November 2022 at which time follow up 
trades were required on site to complete internal ancillary works before Hadrian X® could 
be mobilised to finish construction. Subsequent to the end of the period, the second 
storey slabs of the remaining townhouses were poured meaning FBR could mobilise to 
the Willagee site to complete the second storey walls. 
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Returns to shareholders including distributions and buy backs: 

N/A 

 

Significant features of operating performance: 

N/A 

 

The results of segments that are significant to an understanding of the 
business as a whole: 

N/A 

 

 

Discussion of trends in performance: 

N/A 

 

Any other factor which has affected the results in the period or which are likely 
to affect results in the future, including those where the effect could not be 
quantified: 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

Control gained over entities during the last financial year 
Name of Entity Date Control Gained Details 

Fastbrick Americas LLC 8 September 2022 Newly incorporated wholly owned 
foreign subsidiary set up during the 
financial year for commercialisation 

of Wall as a Service in the USA.  

Fastbrick Americas 
Holdings LLC 

8 September 2022 Newly incorporated wholly owned 
foreign subsidiary set up during the 
financial year for commercialisation 

of Wall as a Service in the USA. 
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Entities sold during the last financial year 
Name of Entity Date Control Lost Details 

N/A N/A N/A 

 

 

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
Name % Holding Contribution to Profits / (Loss) 

2022 2021 

N/A N/A - - 

 

 

Audit/Review Status 
This report is based on accounts to which one of the following applies: (Mark with “YES” 
or “NO”) 

The accounts have been audited YES The accounts have been subject to 
review 

NO 

The accounts are in the process of 
being audited or subject to review 

NO The accounts have not yet been 
audited or reviewed 

NO 

 

This report is based on financial accounts for the year ended 30 June 2023 which have being 
audited. 

If the accounts have not yet been audited or subject to review and are likely to be 
subject to dispute or qualification, a description of the likely dispute or qualification: 

 

N/A 

 

If the accounts have been audited or subject to review and are subject to dispute or 
qualification, a description of the dispute or qualification: 

 

N/A 
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Attachments forming part of Appendix 4E 

Attachment 
# 

Details 

1 Final report for FBR Ltd for the year ended 30th June 2023 (audited) 

 

 

 

 

 

Michael Pivac 

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 

Date:      29 August 2023 
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Directors’ Report 

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of FBR LTD (‘FBR’ or the 
‘Company’) and its controlled entities (‘the Group’) for the year ended 30 June 2023. 

Directors’ details 

The following persons were directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year: 

Mr Richard Grellman AM 

Independent Non-Executive Chairman 
Appointed: 15 July 2018 
Qualifications: FCA 
Experience and expertise: Mr Grellman 
previously worked with accounting firm 
KPMG for 32 years and was a member of 
KPMG’s National Board from 1995 to 1997 
and a member of the National Executive 
Committee from 1997 to 2000. Since then he 
has held numerous positions as a non-
executive director of both listed and unlisted 
companies. 

In 2007, Mr Grellman was appointed a 
member of the Order of Australia for service 
to the community (particularly through 
leadership roles with Mission Australia and 
fundraising with Variety, The Children’s 
Charity) and to the finance and insurance 
sectors. 

Other current directorships: Lead 
Independent Director of The Salvation Army 
in Australia and Non-Executive director of 
Simonds Group Ltd. 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Non-
Executive Chairman of ASX-listed IPH Limited 
(ASX: IPH), Lead Independent Director of 
NYSE listed F45 Training Holdings Inc, Non-
Executive Chairman of Bisalloy Steel Group 
Limited (ASX: BIS) and Director of the 
National Health Medical Research Council for 
Institute for Dementia Research. 

Special responsibilities:  Remuneration 
Committee member and Audit Committee 
member 
Interests in shares: 1,020,408 
Interests in Performance rights: Nil 

Mr Michael Pivac 

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer 
Appointed: 18 November 2015 
Qualifications: Business Management 

Experience and expertise: Michael Pivac is 
the Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of FBR. He spent 20 years in the 
aviation sector as an Airborne Mission 
Coordinator with Australian Border 
Protection and Search and Rescue, 
specializing in Electronic Detection Systems 
and strategic and tactical mission planning, 
working closely with Australian and 
International Government and Military 
Agencies. He has been key to developing 
FBR's technology, business plan and machine 
development strategy, and has forged 
relationships with investors, builders, 
product suppliers and future customers.  

Other current directorships: Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: 152,589,371 (includes 
75,000,000 Loan Funded Shares) 

Interests in Performance rights: Nil 
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Mr Mark Pivac 

Chief Technical Officer, Executive Director and 
Founder 
Appointed: 18 November 2015 
Qualifications: B.Eng (Aero) Hons. 
Experience and expertise: Mark Pivac is the 
primary inventor of FBR’s automated 
bricklaying technology. He is an aeronautical 
and mechanical engineer with over 32 years’ 
experience working on the development of 
high technology equipment ranging from 
lightweight aircraft to heavy off road 
equipment and construction robotics. Mr 
Pivac has 27 years’ experience of 
Pro/Engineer/Creo 3D CAD software. He also 
has high level mathematical skills and 
extensive design, commissioning and fault 
finding experience on servo controlled motion 
systems achieving very high dynamic 
performance. Mr Pivac has led the technical 
development of Hadrian X for over 17 years. 

Other current directorships: Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Nil 

Interests in shares: 358,205,167 (includes 
75,000,000 Loan Funded Shares) 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 

Mr Grant Anderson 

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 23 October 2019 
Qualifications:  FAICD, CPM - FAMI 
Experience and expertise: Grant Anderson has 
over 40 years of experience in the design and 
manufacturing sectors, at the level of 
executive, CEO and managing director for a 
number of public and private best practice 
international companies. Grant also has 
extensive Board experience in both ASX-listed 
and private companies across multiple 
industries including automation, technology 
and robotics. He has experience as a Director 
in multiple countries including joint venture 
companies. Previous Board experience has 
included Berklee Limited (Deputy Chairman), 
Techni Waterjet Pty Ltd. (Chairman) and The 
ANCA Group Pty Ltd. which included multiple 
international subsidiaries. 

Grant is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors, and a life member of the 
FAPM. 

Other current directorships: Non-Executive 
Director, Member of Remuneration 
Committee and Chair Audit and Risk 
Committee of HGS Pty Ltd trading as Sutton 
Tools.  Non-Executive Chairman of 
Effusiontech Pty Ltd trading as SPEE3D a 
metal 3D printing company and Member of 
Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration 
Committee. 

Former directorships (last 5 years):  ANCA 
Group CEO and Executive Director and 
Executive Director of the Industry Capability 
Network Victoria . 

Special responsibilities:  Audit Committee 
Chair and Remuneration Committee 
member  
Interests in shares: 1,250,000 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 
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Mr Greg Smith 

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed: 5 August 2020 
Qualifications: MBA, Grad Dip Management 

Experience and expertise: Greg Smith has 39 
years' experience in the building products 
industry in manufacturing, technical and 
sales across the clay and concrete products 
sectors.  

Greg specialises in operations and project 
management, safety transformation 
leadership, lean implementation and contract 
negotiation.  Mr Smith is also an Officer in the 
Australian Army Reserve and has served for 40 
years, specialising in Operations and Training. 

Mr Smith holds a Master of Business 
Administration (Exec) from the University of 
Queensland, a Graduate Diploma in 
Management from the University of 
Queensland, a Certificate of Applied Science – 
Industrial Ceramics from the Holmesglen 
College of TAFE, a Certificate in Quality 
Control from the School of Mines Ballarat 
TAFE, and is a graduate of the Company 
Directors Course run by the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 

Other current directorships: Nil 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

Special responsibilities: Audit Committee 
member and Remuneration Committee 
member 

Interests in shares: 205,000 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 

Ms Nancy Milne OAM 

B. Law, FAICD 
Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 26 April 2022 
Qualifications: B.Law, FAICD 

Experience and expertise: Ms Milne has 
extensive business experience as a non-
executive director and lawyer specialising in 
insurance, corporate governance, risk 
management and commercial dispute 
resolution. She was a partner at Clayton Utz 
from 1997 to 2003 and a consultant until 
2012, and was awarded the Order of 
Australia Medal in 2008 for services to the 
legal sector and to the community. Ms Milne 
has significant experience in risk 
management, safety, compliance and 
property development.  

Other current directorships:, Chair of the 
Securities Exchanges Guarantee Corporation, 
Chair of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board, Deputy Chair of the 
NSW State Insurance Regulatory Authority, 
Director of the Benevolent Society. 

Former directorships (last 3 years): Crowe 
Horwath Australasia,  ALE Property Group 
Limited  and Director of Pacific Opera. 

Special responsibilities: Remuneration 
Committee Chair and Audit Committee 
member 

Interests in shares: 1,182,000 
Interests in performance rights: Nil 
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CFO and Company Secretary  

Mr Aidan Flynn B Comm, B Sc, CPA, PGrad Dip Energy, GAICD, Grad Dip Applied Corporate 
Governance. 

Mr Aidan Flynn is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and was appointed as the 
Company Secretary on 30 June 2021. 

Principal activities  

FBR is the inventor of the Hadrian X®, the world’s first automated end-to-end bricklaying robot. 
Functioning like a 3D printer, the Hadrian X® builds brick structures in situ, course by course, using 
adhesive to bond the bricks together. The Hadrian X® is capable of working in outdoor environments 
thanks to the unique Dynamic Stabilisation Technology®, or DST®, which rapidly measures and 
adjusts for dynamic interference caused by uncontrolled environmental conditions. The Hadrian X® 
has completed a number of suburban builds under commercial contract, demonstrating its ability to 
build brick structures safer, faster, and more accurately than traditional bricklaying methods while 
producing far less waste. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs  

On 8 July 2022, the Company announced that it had received a firm commitment from a wholly 
owned subsidiary of strategic investor Brickworks Limited (ASX: BKW), Australia’s largest brick 
producer, to raise $1,929,628.40 via 107,201,578 shares at $0.018 per share, the same price as the 
placement completed on 24 June 2022 representing at the time a 14% discount to FBR’s last closing 
price and a 15% discount to the 30-day VWAP. Included in the strategic share subscription 
agreement was a clause stipulating that Brickworks retains the right to participate in any future 
capital raising that FBR undertakes to the extent needed to maintain a 4.93% shareholding in the 
company.  

On 27 October 2022 the Company advised that it had successfully undertaken a fully underwritten 
Institutional Placement to raise A$20 million comprising the issue of 500 million new ordinary fully 
paid FBR shares. The Placement, underwritten and led by Jarden Australia Pty Ltd, was priced at 
A$0.04 per new share, representing a 20% discount to the last close price on 25 October 2022 of 
A$0.05 per share. Placement participants included new and existing institutional, sophisticated and 
strategic investors. Funds from the Placement were used to accelerate the completion of the next-
generation Hadrian X® Programme, pursue WaaS® global expansion and commercialisation 
opportunities as well as provide additional working capital for a ramp up in activities and workforce 
planning as outlined in the investor presentation accompanying the Placement announcement 
released to the ASX on 26 October 2022.  

On 31 October 2022, FBR announced that during the September quarter the Company received 
confirmation that two 100% FBR-owned, United States domiciled subsidiaries, Fastbrick Americas 
LLC and Fastbrick Americas Holdings LLC, had been incorporated in the State of Delaware. These 
subsidiaries will be platforms from which to conduct Wall as a Service® operations in the United 
States, including planned demonstrations of the next-generation Hadrian X®. 

On 13 March 2023, FBR advised that it had entered into a strategic Share Subscription Agreement 
with UK-based FBR Shareholder, M & G Investment Management to acquire 277,000,000 fully paid 
ordinary shares in FBR, for an aggregate sum of A$9.14 million, to fund the manufacture and 
commercial deployment of three next-generation Hadrian X® robots designed specifically for 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



FBR LTD - 30 June 2023  Page 7 

expedited use in the United States. 227,000,000 new fully paid ordinary shares were issued to M & G 
on Friday 17 March 2023 at a price of A$0.033 per share, being an aggregate sum of $A7,491,000, 
utilising FBR’s existing capacity under Listing Rule 7.1 (224,463,828 shares) & 7.1A (2,536,172 
shares).  

On 24 April 2023, FBR advised that it had completed the funding transaction with a further 
aggregate sum of A$1,650,000 received from M & G for the remaining 50,000,000 fully paid ordinary 
shares. The 50,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares were purchased from Mark Pivac and Michael 
Pivac and were previously issued to the Executive Directors in 2020 as loan funded shares with the 
loan term expiring in December 2022. Full proceeds of the sale of these shares went directly and 
solely to FBR in part repayment of the outstanding loans before being applied towards the 
manufacture and commercial deployment of the additional next-generation Hadrian X® robots 
bound for the United States market. The balances of the outstanding non-cash loans were forgiven 
under the terms of the loan funded share incentive plan. 

No other significant changes were made in the state of affairs during the period. 

Review of operations and financial results  

Wellard 

FBR’s Wellard portfolio initially comprised of five undeveloped blocks of land that were purchased by 
FBR and developed utilising its Hadrian X® robot with a selection of Perth builders.  

In the fourth quarter of FY23, the Wellard #2 and Wellard #4 properties were sold for A$520,000 and 
A$555,000 respectively. Wellard #2 is a double leaf cavity walled, four-bedroom, two-bathroom family 
home with a double garage. Total wall area equated to 355m2, which was completed in 29 laying 
hours, utilising standard concrete masonry units (CMU). Wellard #4 was built utilising Wienerberger 
Porotherm clay blocks, marking the first time in the world Wienerberger's clay blocks had been laid by 
a robot in the undertaking of commercial real-world work. This build followed the outdoor pilot build 
testing undertaken in November 2021, which sought to demonstrate Hadrian X®'s ability to address 
the European clay-block low-rise housing market, which has the potential for 700,000 new homes 
annually. 

Willagee 

Continuing work which had begun in the previous period, FBR progressed construction on the largest 
and most complex project it has undertaken to date in the Perth suburb of Willagee, Western 
Australia. FBR’s work at Willagee comprises the construction of walls for 16 two-storey townhouses, 
for Inspired Homes, a large builder of both residential and multi-unit dwellings, and Satterley, who are 
one of Australia’s largest land developers, on one of their premier developments in the state.  

Located in two groups across the development, the northern and southern sides each contain eight 
two-storey units. The previous generation Hadrian X® is robotically constructing the load bearing walls 
and internal partition walls.  

Given the complexity of the project, which included a number of first-time accomplishments for FBR 
such as common party walls between each townhouse, a triple-leaf cavity wall system, acoustic brick 
ties, as well as steel reinforcements and fireproofing, FBR adopted a staged approach, completing all 
the first storey courses before the formation and installation of the second storey slabs and then 
completing the second storey walls, including up to a record height of 9.2 metres. The townhouses are 
located on a rising site with each townhouse standing on a different level. This meant that the Hadrian 
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X® was situated on the adjacent block building below ground level, moving to continue work on the 
opposite side once a side is complete, enabling the next concrete slab to be poured. 

Work on the development continued through November 2022 at which time follow up trades were 
required on site to complete internal ancillary works before Hadrian X® could be mobilised to finish 
construction. Subsequent to the end of the period, the second storey slabs of the remaining 
townhouses were poured meaning FBR could mobilise to the Willagee site to complete the second 
storey walls. 

Next-generation Hadrian X® Development 

Over the course of the first half of FY23, manufacture and mechanical assembly activities on the next-
generation Hadrian X® continued before reaching mechanical completion as announced on 20 
December 2022. The next-generation Hadrian X® features a modular design with distributed control 
architecture which allows work on individual modules to progress independently, while also providing 
greater levels of customisation, quicker repair work and interchangeability once in service. 
Additionally, the next-generation Hadrian X® features a new and simplified tablet-based Human 
Machine Interface (HMI), used throughout the testing and commissioning phase, and is intended to 
greatly enhance user experience and provide greater accessibility to machine operators when in the 
field. The next-generation Hadrian X® also features a 32-metre-long telescopic boom arm and a shuttle 
block delivery system enabling much higher lay at speeds than its predecessor, and is capable of 
building up to three storeys high from the roadside, with the ability to lay within 50mm of existing 
wall, greatly enhancing its versatility in the built environment. 

As previously announced, FBR entered into a two-phase Memorandum of Understanding with 
Liebherr-Mischtechnik, the world’s largest privately owned OEM, with the intention of cooperating to 
industrialise and commercialise the next-generation Hadrian X®. 

On 28 February 2023, FBR advised that the first next-generation Hadrian X® had successfully 
demonstrated the ability to autonomously lay blocks, passing blocks through the entire robotic system, 
including through the novel shuttle block delivery system, before laying them. Following this, the 
program moved to a testing and calibration phase in which further improvements to lay speed and 
DST® were implemented and the Hadrian X® began building larger structures in a testing environment.  

On 13 March 2023, the Company announced that it had entered into a strategic Share Subscription & 
Share Purchase Agreement with U.K. based shareholder M & G Investment Management to fund 
A$9.14 million for the manufacture and commercial deployment of three additional next-generation 
Hadrian X® robots designed specifically for expedited use in the United States. The three United States 
specification Hadrian X® robots will be built on United States truck bases and will then be immediately 
deployed to offer Wall as a Service® via FBR’s United States domiciled Fastbrick Americas LLC entity. 

On 8 May 2023, FBR announced that the first next-generation Hadrian X® robot reached a notable 
milestone as part of the testing and calibration program, achieving a sustained peak lay speed of over 
300 blocks per hour using concrete masonry blocks commonly used around the world, including in the 
United States. This surpassed the previous peak lay speed recorded by its predecessor. 

At a 300 block per hour lay rate, the next-generation Hadrian X® can effectively construct over 70 
vertical square meters of wall per hour when working with the largest format blocks. As the testing 
and calibration program advances it is expected that the lay speed will see further improvement.  
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The audited loss before tax expense/benefit for the 12 months to 30 June 2023 has increased to 
$22,886,197 from the prior period loss of $19,978,660. This was primarily due to an expansion in the 
activities of the company and delays in the Hadrian 110 program. 

Dividends  

No dividends were proposed or paid during the period or up to the date of signing this report.  

Events arising since the end of the reporting period 

17 July 2023 – The Company issued a Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) advising 
Shareholders that a meeting will be held at the Mount Lawley Golf Club on 21 August 2023 at 
11:00AM (AWST). The Company is seeking Shareholder approval to ratify equity placements 
undertaken by the Company in its capacity under Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.1A.  

19 July 2023 – The Company issued 23,080,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon exercise of unquoted 
employee performance rights that vested on achievement of performance milestones in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

26 July 2023 – The Company issued 28,962,500 fully paid ordinary shares upon exercise of unquoted 
employee performance rights that vested on achievement of individual performance in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 6,762,500 vested performance rights 
remain unconverted. 

31 July 2023 – Subsequent to the end of the quarter, FBR expanded its $4.0 million revolving R&D 
tax loan facility with FC Capital previously announced to the ASX on 13 May 2022 to $6.0 million, in 
line with the anticipated R&D tax incentive cash rebate of over $6.0 million for FY23. FBR has drawn 
down on the additional $2.0 million. Additional fees incurred were a $15,000 establishment fee for 
the expanded facility and an increase in interest rate of 1%. 

Material Business Risks  

The following is a summary of the material business risks of the Company. Any of these risks may 
adversely impact on the financial and operating performance and prospects of the group and on the 
ability of the group to continue operating as a going concern. These are not listed in any order of 
importance and do not constitute an exhaustive list. 

Technology risk 

The Company is developing and commercialising brand new ground breaking technology. The 
technology development cycle contains significant unknown and variable factors, some beyond the 
control of the Company. The Hadrian technology being developed is not yet fully developed and fully 
commercialised. There is a significant risk that the Company is unable to fully develop the 
technology to the level required and is unable to commercialise the technology to the level required. 

Competition risk 

Globally there are other companies developing robotic/automated construction technology 
solutions, such as 3D concrete printing. Any increase in robotic/automated competition could result 
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in significant loss of potential revenue-generating opportunities and the devaluation of the 
Company’s technology in the marketplace. 

Supply chain risk 

The Company contracts from Perth, Western Australia with a number of key international suppliers 
on which it relies for the supply of equipment and equipment parts. A significant disruption or delay 
in supply could cause a delay in the availability of the Company’s products, leading to a potential loss 
of commercialisation opportunities. 

Intellectual property and data loss, theft or corruption risk 

The Company’s business relies on its ability to protect its intellectual property and any 
improvements to it. The intellectual property may not be capable of being legally protected, may be 
the subject of unauthorised disclosure, may be unlawfully infringed and/or the Company may incur 
substantial costs in protecting its intellectual property rights. Hacking or exploitation of some 
unidentified vulnerability in the Company’s network could lead to loss, theft or corruption of data 
and breach of privacy. Although the Company has extensive strategies and protections in place to 
protect its intellectual property rights, minimise security breaches, protect data and ensure cyber 
resilience, these strategies may not be successful which could have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s financial position. 

Liability for defect risk 

The Company is exposed to risks relating to structural and building defects as it pertains to the 
components of construction the Company has completed as a sub-contractor as part of the 
statutory warranty of new construction. Any structural or building defect may result in a negative 
customer experience, potential brand damage and financial costs to the Company for repairs and 
rectification. 

Funding risk  

The continued technology development and commercialisation and operations of the Company are 
dependent on its ability to generate sufficient cash flows from future operations or obtain financing 
through debt and/or equity means. There is a risk that the Company may not be able to access 
sufficient funds, which could have a material adverse impact on the Company's business and 
financial condition. 

Likely developments, business strategies and prospects 

FBR’s commercial strategy is to create Wall as a Service® (‘WaaS®’) operating entities around the 
world that deliver erected walls on demand to customers (builders, contractors, government bodies 
etc). These global WaaS® operating entities will be rapidly scaled by allowing strategic partners to 
purchase equity in the WaaS® operation in that region. Funds from strategic partners will be used to 
procure more Hadrian X® robots.  

Over the course of FY23 FBR advanced certification efforts for its Fastbrick Wall System® in 
international jurisdictions, receiving confirmation of compliance from ICC Evaluation Service , as well 
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as confirmation of compliance with the Florida State Building Code. Further certification work in 
other geographies is progressing. 

FBR is expecting to commence its international expansion in mid to late FY24, deploying a next-
generation Hadrian X® for demonstration purposes in international markets. 

FBR currently maintains 100% ownership and control of its global intellectual property and global 
commercial opportunity, giving the Company a monopoly position as the only enabling technology 
for autonomous brick and block wall construction. 

Key Relationships – In parallel with the Hadrian X® program, FBR will continue to develop its existing 
relationships with key partners as well as attracting new partners to help deliver on strategic 
objectives. 

During the period, FBR furthered work on delivering a 16-townhouse project for reputable Perth 
builder Inspired Homes in a Satterley development. FBR’s relationships with Perth’s builders and 
developers are very strong, and once FBR’s machine and resource availability constraints are 
removed, FBR anticipates the Wall as a Service® order book will grow rapidly.  

FBR also has a contract in place to provide Wall as a Service® for eight townhouses in St James, 
Western Australia, which is due to commence shortly. 

In November 2021, FBR announced it had signed a term sheet for the delivery of up to 5,000 homes 
in Mexico with GP Vivienda, a subsidiary of one of Mexico’s largest construction companies.  

In December 2021, FBR announced it had signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the UAE’s 
Ministry of Energy & Infrastructure, which will see FBR and the Ministry conducting a joint feasibility 
study of the use of the Hadrian X® in the UAE construction sector. 

FBR also has strong relationships with domestic and international block suppliers, having completed 
a demonstration structure using autoclaved aerated concrete blocks and calcium silicate blocks for 
Xella, and using Wienerberger Porotherm blocks to complete one of the homes in the Company’s 
Wellard portfolio. 

FBR has executed a Memorandum of Understanding with Liebherr-Mischtechnik, a division of the 
Liebherr International Group, to industrialise and commercialise the next-generation Hadrian X®. It 
is intended that this Memorandum of Understanding will be replaced in due course by a long-term 
Manufacturing and Commercialisation Agreement, which among other things will see Liebherr-
Mischtechnik appointed as the exclusive manufacturer of Hadrian X® robots. 

Intellectual Property Portfolio – FBR’s proprietary combined Hadrian X®, DST® and Fastbrick Wall 
System® technology is protected by a broad and expanding portfolio of intellectual property rights in 
key markets including Australia, USA, Europe and the GCC region. 

FBR Employees – FBR’s team grew significantly in FY23 as the next-generation Hadrian X moved 
from design to manufacture to testing and calibration. As FBR progresses the commercialisation of 
the Hadrian X® technology, it anticipates increasing staff numbers particularly in international 
markets. 

New Applications for FBR’s core technology 

Subject to successfully executing key components of the Company’s Hadrian X® program, FBR 
intends to seed new Research & Development projects to utilise the Company’s core DST®. FBR has 
previously completed preliminary testing on the viability of its existing platform in the delivery of 3D 
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concrete printing applications and has held discussions with various parties about DST® licensing 
opportunities for 3D concrete printing and other applications. In the immediate term, FBR remains 
focussed on delivering on the Hadrian X® program, however at an appropriate time the Company 
will increase its allocation of resources to progress some of the new applications and 
commercialisation opportunities for DST®. 

Directors’ meetings  

The number of Directors’ Meetings (including meetings of Committees of Directors) held during the 
year, and the number of meetings attended by each Director is as follows:  

Director Board Meetings Audit Committee Remuneration Committee 

 A B A B A B 

Mr Richard Grellman 5 5 6 5 5 4 
Mr Michael Pivac 5 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Mr Mark Pivac 5 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Mr Grant Anderson 5 5 6 5 5 5 
Mr Greg Smith 5 5 6 6 5 5 

Ms Nancy Milne 5 5 6 6 5 5 
 

 

The current Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee consists of Nancy Milne (Chair of 
Remuneration Committee), Grant Anderson (Chair of Audit Committee), Richard Grellman and Greg 
Smith. The executives are invited to the Committee meetings at the discretion of the respective 
Committee Chair. 

Where:  

 column A is the number of meetings the Director was entitled to attend 

 column B is the number of meetings the Director attended 

Unissued shares under option  

Unissued ordinary shares of FBR under option as at 30 June 2023. 

Date options granted Expiry date Exercise 
price of 

shares 

Number under 
option 

30 August 2022 31 December 2023 $0.035 56,000,000 
Total   56,000,000 
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Remuneration Report (audited) 

On behalf of the Directors of FBR LTD, I am pleased to present the Remuneration Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2023. 

The Board is committed to a Remuneration framework that drives superior performance, 
attracts and appropriately rewards and retains high performing Executives, delivers shareholder 
value and encourages decision-making focused on the longer term.  

Short term incentive targets have been set at challenging levels designed to drive innovation, 
continual value creation and long term business sustainability and growth. The Board exercises 
its discretion to recognise outstanding levels of achievement. 

The information provided in the Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements under the Corporations Act 2001, ASX Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations and Accounting Standards. 

 

 

 

Nancy Milne 

Chair of Remuneration Committee 
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Remuneration Report (audited)- CONTINUED 

The Directors of FBR LTD (‘FBR’ or ‘the Company’ or ‘the Group’) present the Remuneration 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2023, for the Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors 
and other Key Management Personnel, prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.   

The Remuneration Report is set out under the following main headings:  

a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration; 

b. Details of remuneration; 

c. Service agreements; 

d. Share-based remuneration; 

e. Bonuses included in remuneration; and 

f. Other information. 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Key Management Personnel are responsible for the management, planning and execution of the 
activities of FBR and other executives. The Key Management Personnel for FBR, in accordance 
with S300A of the Corporations Act 2001, are outlined on page 18. 

FBR’s remuneration strategy has been designed to a build a high-performance culture and attract, 
retain and motivate its employees, encouraging them to meet their full potential. In line with this 
strategy, FBR provides market competitive fixed remuneration and incentives. At this stage of the 
Company’s commercialisation journey, incentives offered are share-based. 

The principles of FBR’s executive strategy and supporting incentive programs and frameworks 
are:  

 to align rewards to business outcomes that deliver value to shareholders; 

 to drive a high performance culture by setting challenging objectives and rewarding high 
performing individuals; and  

 to ensure remuneration is competitive in the relevant employment marketplace to support the 
attraction, motivation and retention of executive talent. 

FBR has a remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward 
strategy of the Group. 

The Board, with the assistance and guidance of the Remuneration Committee, who operate in 
accordance with its Board approved charter, is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Group. 

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Ms Nancy Milne and is comprised of three (3) other 
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee met five (5) times during 
the year. 

The remuneration structure that has been adopted by the Group consists of the following 
components:  

 Fixed remuneration being annual salary; and 

 Employee Loan Facility and Incentive Schemes. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The Non-Executive Directors on the Board assess the appropriateness of the nature and amount 
of remuneration on a periodic basis by reference to recent employment market conditions, with 
the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit by the retention of a high quality 
Board, as well as a high retention of overall employees, Key Management Personnel and other 
Executives. 

The payment of bonuses, share options, share performance rights and other incentive payments 
are to be reviewed by the Non-Executive Directors annually as part of the review of executive 
remuneration. All bonuses, options and incentives must be linked to predetermined performance 
criteria. 

Fixed Remuneration 

Fixed Remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis), as 
well as employer contributions to superannuation funds. Fixed Remuneration is reviewed against 
relevant market benchmarking of comparator companies, in addition to considering the 
individual contribution and competence levels. 

Employee Loan Facility 

The Company offered a loan facility to FBR’s employees (Employee Loan Facility) for the purpose 
of assisting the Group's employees and officers with meeting any tax liabilities which may become 
due and payable as a result of the Company issuing the employee equity-based incentives. 

The Board previously engaged external law firm Bellanhouse Lawyers to provide independent 
written legal advice to ensure the Employee Loan Facility was permissible under Australian law, 
including the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (the Act) and the ASX Listing Rules. 

Loyalty Leave Program 

As the Group is committed to providing benefits that encourage both engagement and well-
being, it implemented a Loyalty Leave Program that provides employees with an additional type 
of leave benefit called “Loyalty Leave”, which is over and above existing annual leave and carer’s 
leave entitlements. 

The Leave Loyalty Program is designed to reward FBR employees’ tenure with the Group through 
the provision of additional leave each year in reflection of the length of time they have been with 
the Group. For every year of employment up to a cap of five years, an employee will earn one (1) 
additional day of leave per year which is awarded on the anniversary of an employee’s start date. 

Short Term Incentive (STI) 

STI awards to FBR Personnel and executives are made under the performance rights plan and 
employee securities incentive plan rules and are delivered in the form of Share Performance 
Rights (Rights) or share options. Each Right entitles the holder (subject to achievement of the 
specified performance conditions) to one fully paid ordinary share in the Group for nil 
consideration. The purpose of the equity-based Short Term Incentive (STI) is to incentivise and 
reward FBR employees (including Key Management Personnel) for achieving Group and 
individual performance objectives that drive shareholder value whilst simultaneously conserving 
the Group’s cash.  
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The STI is awarded based on an annual assessment of Group and Individual performance linked 
to the Group’s performance and strategic development, focusing on core drivers of shareholder 
value, to drive both a short and long term perspective on performance, and protect the long term 
interests of the shareholders. 

FBR monitors staff performance to ensure key objectives are being met. The performance 
measures involve the use of annual performance objectives, metrics, performance appraisals and 
continuing emphasis on living the Group values. 

As part of the continued growth of the Group, it will look to introduce financial performance 
incentives whereby performance measures will be set annually after consultation with the 
Directors and Executives and will be specifically tailored to the areas where each executive has a 
level of control. The measures will target areas the Board believes hold the greatest potential for 
expansion and profit and cover financial and non-financial measures. 

The Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) for FBR’s personnel are summarised as follows: 

 financial – not applicable for FY22 & FY23, however it is expected future financial years will have 
revenues, operating profit and earnings per share; and  

 non-financial – safety, strategic technical and commercial growth and development and corporate 
goals set individually based on job descriptions and the attainment of the Group’s overall strategic 
and corporate objectives. 

The Board may, at its discretion, award bonuses for exceptional performance in relation to each 
individual. 

The number of performance rights and options granted in respect to the FY22 STI is determined 
based on the VWAP at the start of the performance period. 

The value of performance rights is therefore aligned with shareholder interests as executives 
receive value aligned with share price movements. Value is not realised until the vested rights 
are exercised into shares. 

Performance objectives are set by the FBR Board in line with the annual business planning and 
budgeting process. The weighting for each target is reviewed annually and may vary from year to 
year to reflect its criticality, effort to achieve and impact on the business. 

In FY23, Group objectives accounted for 50% of the performance objectives with personal 
objectives accounting for the remaining 50%. 

Long Term Incentive (LTI) 

LTI awards to staff are made under the performance rights plan and employee securities 
incentive plan rules and are delivered in the form of Performance Rights (Rights). Each Right 
entitles the holder (subject to achievement of the specified performance conditions) to one 
fully paid ordinary share in the Company for nil consideration. 
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

The LTI has been designed to provide alignment with shareholder outcomes by linking the value 
of the LTI to share price movement over the performance period.  

The most recent LTI’s were issued with a performance period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2025. 
Performance Rights are granted at the commencement of the three (3) year period with awards 
vesting to shares at the end of the three-year performance period subject to performance against 
the specified performance conditions in the case of personal objectives, or upon satisfaction of 
the requisite performance conditions in the case of Group objectives. 

In the event of a change of control of the Company, the performance period end date will be 
generally accelerated and brought forward to the date of the change of control and awards will 
vest over this shortened period, subject to ultimate Board discretion. 

Non-Executive Directors 

Total remuneration for all Non-Executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting in December 2021, is not to exceed A$500,000 per annum and is set 
based on advice from external advisors with reference to the fees paid to other Non-Executive 
Directors of comparable companies. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are presently up to A$500,000 
per annum. 

Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance related remuneration. Directors’ fees cover 
all main Board and Committee activities. 

Executive Directors 

Executive Director fees are disclosed in part (b) of the Remuneration Report. 

Use of remuneration consultants 

Remuneration is compared with the external market by industry salary surveys and during 
recruitment activities generally. the Remuneration Committee considers the industry 
benchmarking of executive remuneration to ensure the effective alignment with business 
requirements, market practice and key shareholder group expectations. 

During the period or prior period no remuneration recommendations, as defined by the 
Corporations Act, were provided by independent remuneration consultants. 

Voting and comments made at the Company’s last Annual General Meeting 

FBR received 96.83% of ‘FOR’ votes on its Remuneration Report for the 2022 Annual General 
Meeting.  
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Remuneration Report (audited) - CONTINUED 

a Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration - CONTINUED 

Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth  

In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board have 
regard to the following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous four (4) 
financial years:  

 

 

b Details of remuneration  

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each Key 
Management Personnel (KMP) of each entity are shown in the following tables:

ITEM 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

 
EPS loss (cents) 

 
0.70 

 
0.85 

 
0.45 

 
0.68 

 
0.73 

Dividends (cents per - - - - - 
Net loss (’000) 22,886 19,979 9,333 10,997 9,142 
Share price $0.026 $0.017 $0.040 $0.032 $0.074 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

b Details of remuneration - CONTINUED 

DIRECTOR AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 
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Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac  2023 416,536 - - 27,500 15,587 - 298,049 312,185 1,069,857 57% 

Managing Director & 
CEO - Global 2022 370,673 - - 25,000 28,516 - 287,500 206,841 918,530 54% 

Mr Mark Pivac 2023 449,586 - 414 27,500 49,650 - 298,049 312,185 1,137,384 54% 

Executive Director & 
CTO 2022 444,707 - 101 25,000 15,181 - 287,500 206,841 979,330 50% 

Non-Executive Directors 

Mr Richard Grellman 2023 146,252 - - 15,356 - - - - 161,608 0% 

Non-Executive Chairman 2022 142,350 - - - - - - - 142,350 0% 

Mr Grant Anderson 2023 86,979 - - 9,133 - - - - 96,112 0% 

Non-Executive Director 2022 79,077 - - 7,908 - - - - 86,985 0% 

Mr Greg Smith  2023 86,979 - - 9,133 - - - - 96,112 0% 

Non-Executive Director 2022 79,077 -  - 7,908 - - - - 86,985 0% 

Ms Nancy Milne 
Non-Executive Director 

2023 
2022 

86,979 
13,538 

- 
- 

- 
- 

9,133 
1,354 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

96,112 
14,892 

0% 
0% 

Executives 

Mr Aidan Flynn 2023 291,415 - 881 25,292 18,384 - 371,916 166,139 874,027 62% 

CFO & Company 
Secretary 2022 268,381 - 1,321 23,568 7,021 - 147,420 120,302 568,013 47% 

Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

2023 219,178 - - 23,014 799 - 297,533 149,621 690,145 65% 

General Counsel 2022 217,071 - - 21,689 4,058 - 147,420 111,113 501,351 52% 

Mr Kiel Chivers 
CCO 

2023 
2022 

250,000 
226,385 

- 
- 

- 
- 

25,292 
22,338 

819 
19,277 

- 
- 

371,916 
147,420 

166,139 
111,488 

814,166 
526,908 

66% 
49% 

Total 

2023 Total 2023 2,033,904 - 1,295 171,353 85,239 - 1,637,463 1,106,269 5,035,523 54% 

2022 Total  2022 1,840,259 - 1,422 134,765 74,053 - 1,017,260 756,585 3,824,344 46% 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

b Details of remuneration - CONTINUED 

i. Ms Nancy Milne was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022 

ii. Mr Jonathan Lawe Davies works in a part time capacity for the Company 

 

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as 
follows: 

Name Fixed remuneration At risk – STI Equity 
Plan 

At risk – LTI Equity Plan 

Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac $438,901  
+ $27,500 superannuation 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

50,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares3 

Mr Mark Pivac $450,000  
+ $27,500 superannuation 

25,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares2 

50,000,000 Loan 
Funded Shares3 

Non-Executive Directors 

Mr Richard Grellman $170,000 
including statutory 

superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Mr Grant Anderson $110,000 
 including statutory 

superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Mr Greg Smith $110,000  
including statutory 

superannuation 

Nil Nil 

Ms Nancy Milne1 $110,000  
including statutory 

superannuation 

Nil Nil 

1. Ms. Nancy Milne was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 April 2022. 

2. Loan Funded Shares have a loan value of 4.0 cents per share 

3. Loan Funded Shares have an average loan value of 4.25 cents per share 

 

The Company is reviewing its salary mix to ensure the Company’s Executives and Non-Executives are 
benchmarked to its peers and comparable technology companies.  The Board acknowledges that the 
above two Executive Directors have a substantial equity position and are incentivised via their Loan 
Funded Shares, some of which were issued following shareholder approval at the Company’s 2020 
AGM and then half of which were extended by 12 months at the Company’s 2021 AGM. The 
remainder of the Loan Funded Shares were issued following shareholder approval at the Company’s 
2022 AGM.   
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

C Service agreements 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Executive Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel are formalised in an Executive Service Agreement or employment contract. 
The major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below: 

Personnel Base salary Term of agreement Notice period 

Executive Directors 

Mr Michael Pivac $438,901  Unspecified Six months 

Mr Mark Pivac $450,000  Unspecified Six months 

Non-Executive Directors 

Mr Richard Grellman $153,153 Unspecified None 

Mr Grant Anderson $99,099 Unspecified None 

Mr Greg Smith  $99,099 Unspecified None 

Ms Nancy Milne $99,099 Unspecified None 

Executives 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-Davies1 $273,973 Unspecified Three months 

Mr Aidan Flynn $303,046 Unspecified Three months 

Mr Kiel Chivers $250,000 Unspecified Three months 
1. Base salary is based on normal full time working hours and is pro rated down only, depending on the actual hours worked. 

d Share-based remuneration 

No new shares were issued to Directors during the year. 

During the year, the Company issued 27,668,200 fully paid ordinary shares to employees only, as a 
result of the achievement of vesting conditions associated with performance milestones in 
accordance with the Company’s Performance Rights Plan. 

During the year, at the Company’s AGM, the Company issued 50,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares as 
loan funded shares to each of the two Executive Directors. 

 
Loan Funded Shares 

NUMBER  
ISSUED GRANT DATE 

 
 
 

LOAN DUE DATE 

LOAN 
AMOUNT 

(CENTS PER 
SHARE) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE 
(CENTS PER 

SHARE) 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 28 December 2022 28 December 2023 4.0 1.2 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 28 December 2022 28 December 2023 4.0 1.2 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 28 December 2022 28 December 2025 4.0 2.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 28 December 2022 28 December 2025 4.0 2.5 

Mr Michael Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 4.5 1.5 

Mr Mark Pivac 25,000,000 24 December 2020 24 December 2023 4.5 2.5 
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Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

d Share-based remuneration – CONTINUED 
 

Options Approved by the Board during the year 

No new options were issued to Directors during the year. There were 112,000,000 unlisted options 
approved and issued by the board during the year.  

Performance rights granted during the year  

No new performance rights were issued to Directors during the year. During the year, the Company 
issued 28,000,000 unlisted performance rights to the Key Management Personnel of FBR. These 
performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the following classes. 

CLASS C 
NUMBER  

ISSUED GRANT DATE 

 
 

MILESTONE DATE EXPIRY DATE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 5,000,000 9 December 2022 30 June 2025 31 July 2026 Nil 3.8 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-
Davies 

4,000,000 9 December 2022 30 June 2025 31 July 2026 Nil 3.8 

Mr Kiel Chivers 5,000,000 9 December 2022 30 June 2025 31 July 2026 Nil 3.8 

 
CLASS D NUMBER  

ISSUED GRANT DATE 
 

MILESTONE DATE EXPIRY DATE 
EXERCISE 

PRICE 
(CENTS) 

FAIR VALUE 
AT GRANT 

DATE (CENTS) 

Mr Aidan Flynn 5,000,000 9 December 2022 30 June 2025 31 July 2026 Nil 3.8 

Mr Jonathan Lawe-
Davies 

4,000,000 9 December 2022 30 June 2025 31 July 2026 Nil 3.8 

Mr Kiel Chivers 5,000,000 9 December 2022 30 June 2025 31 July 2026 Nil 3.8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



FBR LTD - 30 June 2023  Page 23 

Remuneration Report (audited) – CONTINUED 

d Share-based remuneration - CONTINUED 
 

i.    14,000,000 Performance Rights Class C 

Vesting conditions for 14,000,000 Performance Rights of Class C; By 30 June 2025, the Company 
has received binding purchase orders for its products and services with a cumulative total value of 
$30 million AUD.  

 
All Class C Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2025 and an expiry date of 31 July 
2026. If unconverted, Class C Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date. 
 

ii.      14,000,000 Performance Rights Class D 

Vesting condition for Class D; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 
Milestone date is 30 June 2025. Expiry date is 31 July 2026. 
If unconverted, Class D Performance Rights will expire on the expiry date; 
 

The performance rights were valued using the spot price on grant date. The spot price was $0.038 per 
share at the close of trade on 9 December 2022, being the date the acceptance offers were signed and 
dated by the employees. The fair value of these 28,000,000 performance rights granted during the 
current year, assuming that 100% of the performance rights will vest, was $1,064,000 of this $231,255 
was expensed during the year. 

e Bonuses included in remuneration 

At present, the Company does not have a formal cash STI structure in place, as the Company 
continues to mature, it may review whether a cash STI plan is suitable. 

f Other information 

Options held by Key Management Personnel 

During the year the Company issued 112,000,000 options to Key Management Personnel, including 
their related parties. Details of movements in options balances during the year are set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT 
START OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

EXERCISED EXPIRY HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac - - - - - 
Mr Mark Pivac - - - - - 
Mr Aidan Flynn - 40,000,000 (20,000,000) - 20,000,000 
Mr Jonathan Lawe Davies - 32,000,000 (16,000,000) - 

 
16,000,000 

Mr Kiel Chivers - 40,000,000 (20,000,000) - 20,000,000 
Total - 112,000,000 (56,000,000) - 56,000,000 
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Remuneration Report (audited)  – CONTINUED 

f Other information – CONTINUED 

Shares held by Key Management Personnel 

The number of ordinary shares in the Company during the 2023 reporting period held by each of the 
Group’s Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 

1 100,000,000 Loan funded shares were issued during the period. These have been included in the table below. 
2 50,000,000 Loan funded shares expired unexercised during the period. These have been included in the table below. 

 

Loan Funded Shares held by Key Management Personnel 

During a prior year, on 24 December 2020, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded incentive 
shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting on 26 November 2020. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided under a limited 
recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which pertains to 
25,000,000 shares was repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to the other 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

During a prior year, at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 20 December 2021, the Company 
extended the term by 12 months of 50,000,000 of the fully paid ordinary shares as loan funded shares 
to the two Executive Directors. These loan funded shares then expired unexercised on 24 December 
2022 and were sold by the Company to a third party investor. The executive directors did not receive 
any proceeds or benefit from the sale. 

During the current year, on 28 December 2022, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded 
incentive shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 28 November 2022. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided under a 
limited recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which pertains to 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to the other 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT 
START OF YEAR 

PURCHASED GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

RECEIVED ON 
CONVERSION OF 

RIGHTS 

RECEIVED ON 
EXERCISE OF 

OPTIONS 

DISPOSALS HELD AT THE 
END OF 

REPORTING 
PERIOD 

Mr Richard 
Grellman 

- 1,020,408 
- 

- 
- 

-  1,020,408 

Mr Grant 
Anderson 

716,667 533,333 - - - - 1,250,000 

Mr Greg Smith - 205,000 - - - - 205,000 

Ms Nancy Milne 250,000 932,000 - - - - 1,182,000 

Mr Michael Pivac 127,589,371  50,000,0001 - - (25,000,000)2  152,589,371 

Mr Mark Pivac 333,205,167  50,000,0001 - - (25,000,000)2 358,205,167 

Mr Aidan Flynn 4,720,000  - 3,024,000 20,000,000 (22,000,000) 5,744,000 
Mr Jonathan 
Lawe Davies 

3,589,000  - 
 

2,419,200 16,000,000  (16,000,000)  6,008,200 

Mr Kiel Chivers 2,780,000  - 3,024,000 20,000,000 (20,000,000)  5,804,000 

Total 472,850,205 2,690,741 100,000,000 8,467,200 56,000,000  (108,000,000) 532,008,146 
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Remuneration Report (audited)  – CONTINUED 

The number of Loan Funded Shares held in the Company during the 2023 reporting period held by 
each of the Company’s Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is set out below: 

Loan Funded Shares held by Key Management Personnel (continued) 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 

 

Performance Rights held by Key Management Personnel 

The number of Performance Rights held in the Company during the 2023 reporting period held by 
each of the Company’s Key Management Personnel, including their related parties, is set out below: 

 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 
 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT START 
OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

EXCERCISED 
DURING THE YEAR 

EXPIRY 

 

HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac - - - - - 

Mr Mark Pivac - - - - - 

Mr Aidan Flynn 6,874,000 10,000,000 (3,024,000) - 13,850,000 

Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

5,499,200 8,000,000 (2,419,200) - 11,080,000 

Mr Kiel Chivers 6,874,000 10,000,000 (3,024,000) - 13,850,000 

Total 19,247,200 28,000,000  (8,467,200) - 38,780,000 
 

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 

DIRECTOR LOAN AGREEMENT 

During prior periods the Company paid $190,000 as an unsecured interest bearing loan to Mark Pivac 
in relation to tax payments relating to Performance Rights issued under the Company’s Performance 
Rights Plan. The amount (plus $67,182 interest) remains outstanding at 30 June 2023. 

The loan has a maturity date of 31 December 2023 and an interest rate at the higher of 4.52% per 
annum and the highest rate of interest payable by the Company to any financier of the Company at 
the relevant time. 

GUARANTEES 

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related parties. 

End of audited Remuneration Report 
 

PERSONNEL BALANCE AT START 
OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
REMUNERATION 

REPAID DURING 
THE YEAR 

EXPIRY HELD AT THE END 
OF REPORTING 

PERIOD 

Mr Michael Pivac 50,000,000 50,000,000 - (25,000,000) 75,000,000 

Mr Mark Pivac 50,000,000 50,000,000 - (25,000,000) 75,000,000 

Mr Aidan Flynn - - - - - 
Mr Jonathan Lawe 
Davies 

- - - - - 

Mr Kiel Chivers - - - - - 
Total 100,000,000 100,000,000 - (50,000,000) 150,000,000 
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Environmental legislation 

FBR is required to carry out its activities in accordance with the laws and regulations in the areas in 
which it undertakes its activities. There have been no known significant breaches of these laws and 
regulations. 

Indemnities given to, and insurance premiums paid for directors and officers 

Insurance of officers 

During the year, FBR paid a premium to insure officers of the Company.  The officers of the Company 
covered by the insurance policy include all Directors.   

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings 
that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company, and any other 
payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings, other 
than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the 
improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or 
someone else to cause detriment to the Company.   

Details of the amount of the premium paid in respect of insurance policies are not disclosed as such 
disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.   

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent 
permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify any current or former officer of the Company 
against a liability incurred as such by an officer. 

Non-audit services 

During the year, Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, the Company’s auditors, did not perform any other 
services in addition to their statutory audit duties.   

Details of the amounts paid to the auditors of the Company, Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, for audit 
services provided during the year are set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.   

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is included on page 26 of this financial report and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to 
bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the 
Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part 
of those proceedings. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 

Michael Pivac 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

29 August 2023 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Level 17 
383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Locked Bag Q800 
Queen Victoria Building NSW 
1230 

T +61 2 8297 2400 

www.grantthornton.com.au 

ACN-130 913 594 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389. 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or 
refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Limited is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). 
GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member 
firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one 
another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards 
Legislation. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

To the Directors of FBR Ltd 

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit 

of FBR Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2023, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 

been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 

the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 

Chartered Accountants 

M D Dewhurst 

Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Sydney, 29 August 2023 

Page 27 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit  or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 30 June 2023 
Notes 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 

$ $ 

Continuing operations  
Revenue 7 1,662,676 765,226 
Cost of sales  (3,288,647) (1,428,536) 

Gross profit (1,625,971) (663,310) 

Interest income 283,725 26,441 
R&D tax rebate 8,645,963 3,620,314 
Other income  8 92,376 64,217 
Professional services 9.a (1,082,433) (826,220) 
Directors’ and employees’ benefits 9.b (12,742,292) (8,486,511) 
Development costs (1,354,435) (2,290,131) 
Share-based payments (5,274,924) (3,040,568) 
Depreciation 16,17 (1,829,493) (1,395,556) 
Amortisation of development costs 18 (3,163,551) (2,021,480) 
Property, plant, equipment and inventory 
impairment 

12 
(199,647) (1,426,486) 

Other expenses 9.c (4,635,515) (3,539,370) 

Loss before tax (22,886,197) (19,978,660) 

Income tax (expense)/benefit - - 

Loss for the period (22,886,197) (19,978,660) 

Other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax 

- - 

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period (22,886,197) (19,978,660) 

Basic loss per share in cents per share 26 0.70 0.85 

Diluted loss per share in cents per share 26 0.70 0.85 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2023 
 Notes 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
  $ $ 

Assets    
Current    
Cash and cash equivalents 11 13,402,405 11,518,907 

Trade and other receivables 13 9,566,644 6,470,410 

Inventories 12 1,154,236 1,370,489 

Other current assets 14 587,509 713,216 

Current assets  24,710,794 20,073,022 

    

Non-current    

Property, plant and equipment 16 15,092,258 4,961,409 

Right-of-use assets 17 2,248,201 1,907,332 

Development costs  18 44,544,728 46,394,525 

Non-current assets  61,885,187 53,263,266 

Total assets  86,595,981 73,336,288 

    

Liabilities    

Current    

Trade and other payables 19 2,953,631 3,551,123 

Provisions 20 2,539,926 754,846 

Lease liabilities 21 1,397,658 1,220,117 

Borrowings 22 5,227,093 5,740,033 

Current liabilities  12,118,308 11,266,119 

    

Non-current    

Provisions 20 278,833 573,906 

Lease liabilities  21 869,942 716,723 

Borrowings 22 1,820,302 2,514,138 

Non-current liabilities   2,969,077 3,804,767 

Total liabilities  15,087,385 15,070,886 

Net assets  71,508,596 58,265,402 

    

Equity    

Equity attributable to owners of the parent:     

Share capital 23 148,845,254 116,567,987 

Reserves 25 5,802,820 3,496,596 

Accumulated losses  (83,139,478) (61,799,181) 

Total equity  71,508,596 58,265,402 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  

For the year ended 30 June 2023 

 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

PERFORMANCE 
RIGHT  

RESERVE 

SHARE 
OPTION  
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2022 116,567,987 1,998,671 1,497,925 (61,799,181) 58,265,402 

Loss for the period - - - (22,886,197) (22,886,197) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - - (22,886,197) (22,886,197) 

      

Transactions with owners:      

Shares issued – capital raising (refer to Note 23) 31,070,628 - - - 31,070,628 

Capital raising costs – (refer to Note 23) (1,476,161) - - - (1,476,161) 

Performance rights converted to shares (refer to 
Note 24) 

1,079,060 (1,079,060) - - - 

Performance rights issued to employees  
(refer to Note 25) 

- 3,013,090 - - 3,013,090 

Performance rights expired (refer to Note 25) - (317,622) - 317,622 - 

Performance rights forfeited (refer to Note 25) - (78,278) - 78,278 - 

Options issued to employees and directors 
(refer to Note 25) 

- - 2,261,834 - 2,261,834 

Options expired (Refer to Note 25) - - (1,150,000) 1,150,000 - 

Options exercised (Refer to Note 25) 1,603,740 - (343,740) - 1,260,000 

Balance at 30 June 2023 148,845,254 3,536,801 2,266,019 (83,139,478) 71,508,596 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

FBR LTD - 30 June 2023  Page 31 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 

 
SHARE 

CAPITAL 

PERFORMANCE 
RIGHT  

RESERVE 

SHARE 
OPTION  
RESERVE 

ACCUMULATED 
LOSSES 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      

Balance at 1 July 2021 101,695,037 3,325,339 1,155,865 (43,807,785) 62,368,456 

Loss for the period - - - (19,978,660) (19,978,660) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - - (19,978,660) (19,978,660) 

      

Transactions with owners:      

Shares issued – capital raising (refer to Note 23) 14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000 

Capital raising costs – (refer to Note 23) (799,304) - - - (799,304) 

Performance rights converted to shares (refer to 
Note 25) 

1,672,254 (1,672,254) - - - 

Performance rights issued to employees  
(refer to Note 25) 

- 2,439,080 - - 2,439,080 

Performance rights expired (refer to Note 25) - (1,769,216) - 1,680,301 (88,915) 

Performance rights forfeited (refer to Note 25) - (324,278) - - (324,278) 

Options issued to employees and directors (refer 
to Note 25) 

- - 988,686 - 988,686 

Options expired (Refer to Note 25) - - (564,584) 257,738 (306,846) 

Options and loan funded shares extended - - (82,042) 49,225 (32,817) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 116,567,987 1,998,671 1,497,925 (61,799,181) 58,265,402 

 

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2023 
 Notes 30 June 2023 

 
30 June 2022 

 
  $ $ 

Operating activities    
Receipts from customers  1,987,026 924,601 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (22,379,071) (15,851,622) 

Interest received  241,241 2,883 

R&D refund received  3,844,845 - 

Interest paid  (599,291) (417,735) 

Government grants  73,200 - 

Net cash used in operating activities  (16,832,050) (15,341,873) 

    

Investing activities    

Development costs  (1,919,700) (4,087,416) 

Research and development rebate received  2,035,525 3,986,814 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (10,936,488) (3,277,196) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (10,820,663) (3,377,798) 

    

    

Financing activities    

Proceeds from loans  4,292,652 8,334,056 

Repayment of loans  (5,485,907) (2,561,828) 

Proceeds from issue of share capital 23 32,330,628 14,000,000 

Capital raising costs   (1,601,162) (661,801) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  29,536,211 19,110,427 

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents  1,883,498 390,756 

    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  11,518,907 11,128,151 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 11 13,402,405 11,518,907 

    

    

Note: This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Nature of operations  

FBR LTD (the Company) and its controlled subsidiaries (the Group) designs, develops and builds 
dynamically stabilised robots to address global needs. These robots are designed to work outdoors 
using the Company’s core Dynamic Stabilisation Technology® (DST®). The first application of DST® is 
the Hadrian X®, a bricklaying robot that builds structural walls faster, safer, more accurately and 
with less wastage than traditional manual methods. The Hadrian X® provides Wall as a Service®, 
FBR’s unique commercial offering, to builders on demand. The Company has secured patents to 
protect its intellectual property in its technology in key markets. 

2. General information and statement of compliance 

The consolidated general purpose financial statements of the Group have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards results in full compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).  FBR is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

FBR is the Group’s Ultimate Parent Company.  FBR is a Public Company incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia.  The address of its registered office and its principal place of business is 122 Sultana 
Road West, High Wycombe WA 6057. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 have been approved and 
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors.  

3. Going concern 

The Consolidated Financial Report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates 
the continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of 
liabilities in the normal course of business.   

The Group incurred a net loss of $22,886,197 during the year ended 30 June 2023, and the Group’s 
net cash outflows from operating and investing activities totalled $27,652,713 for the year. The 
ability for the Group to continue as a going concern and to fund its ongoing Hadrian X programme is 
dependent upon the Group successfully raising additional capital and continuing to be eligible for 
receipt of government R&D tax incentives. Whilst the Directors are confident of the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, due to the factors mentioned above, there is material uncertainty 
that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If the Group is unable to 
continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and or settle its liabilities other 
than in the ordinary course of business and at amounts different from those stated in the financial 
report. 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents at balance date of $13,402,405 and was working capital 
positive. The Group has receivables of $9,566,644 at balance date. The Group has prepared a cash 
flow forecast for the next 12 months which demonstrates that with further equity raisings, 
continued access to the R&D tax incentive program and the existing cash reserves and receivables, 
there is the necessary working capital for the Group to continue its ongoing Hadrian X programme 
and to provide the necessary working capital to cover its corporate costs over the next year. 
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4. Changes in accounting policies 

A. New and revised standards that are effective for these financial statements 

In the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has reviewed all of the new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2022.  

The Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) that 
are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. The adoption of 
those standards does not have a significant impact on the amounts reported for the current and 
prior period. 

B. Accounting Standards issued but not yet effective and not been adopted early by the Group 

There are no new standards and interpretations that are not yet effective and that would be 
expected to have a material impact on the group in the current or future reporting periods and on 
foreseeable future transactions. 

Other Standards and Amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the 
Group include: 

• AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates 

• AASB 2021-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax related to Assets 
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 

The Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the new standards with no material 
impact expected. 

5. Summary of accounting policies 

A. Basis of consolidation 

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30 
June 2023. The Company controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the subsidiary.  All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 30 June and the functional and presentation 
currency of the Group is Australia Dollars. 

All transactions and balances between FBR companies are eliminated on consolidation, including 
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between FBR companies.  Where unrealised losses on 
intra-Company asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for 
impairment from a Group perspective.  Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries 
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by 
the Group. 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as 
applicable. 
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5.       Summary of accounting polic ies (continued) 

B. Revenue and Income 

Wall-as-a-Service (WaaS) and Construction Services income  

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Company follows a 5-step process: 

1. Identifying the contract with a customer 
2. Identifying the performance obligations 
3. Determining the transaction price 
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 
5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied  

The transaction price is the fair value of consideration received or receivable net of goods and 
services tax (GST). 

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies 
performance obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers. For WaaS & 
Construction Services, revenue is recognised over time as services are delivered to the customer, as 
the customer benefits from the service as it is delivered and the Group has a right to payment 
appropriate to the level of effort expended upon cancellation of any arrangements. For house and 
land property sales, revenue is recognised at a point in time which is when the cash settlement of 
the sale of the property occurs. The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received 
in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and reports these amounts as contract liabilities in 
the statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before 
it receives the consideration, the Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its 
statement of financial position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is 
required before the consideration is due. 

Interest and dividend income 

Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  
Dividends, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the right to 
receive payment is established. 

Government grants 

Government grants are treated as income and are reported on an accrual basis and recognised when 
there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the conditions attaching to them and 
the grants will be received. 

C. Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of 
their origin.   

D. Leased assets  

The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or 
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration’. 

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which 
are whether: 
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5. Summary of accounting policies (continued)

 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group.

 the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of
the contract.

 the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used
throughout the period of use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The right-of-use 
asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the 
asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement 
date (net of any incentives received). 

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. 
The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist. 

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is 
readily available or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 
(including in substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to 
be exercised. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased 
for interest. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in 
in-substance fixed payments. When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment 
is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to 
zero. The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using 
the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments 
in relation to these are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

On the statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been disclosed in non-current assets 
and lease liabilities have been disclosed in current and non-current liabilities. 

E. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash within three 
(3) months or less at inception of the deposit and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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5. Summary of accounting policies (continued)

F. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses 
directly attributable to the building process as well as suitable portions of related production 
overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are 
assigned using the first in, first out cost formula. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses.  

G. Property, plant and equipment

Plant and Equipment 

All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

Asset Class Method Useful Lives 
Plant and equipment Straight Line 2-10 years

Furniture and fittings Straight Line 2-10 years

Information and communication 
technology (ICT) equipment 

Straight Line 2-5 years

Leasehold improvements Straight Line 2-4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These 
are included in profit or loss. 

H. Research and development, intangibles and intellectual property

Research costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Patents costs that relate to 
projects that are in the research phase are expensed. 

Development costs are capitalised when it is probable that the project will be a success considering 
its commercial and technical feasibility; the consolidated entity is able to use or sell the asset; the 
consolidated entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the development and its costs 
can be measured reliably. Capitalised development costs are amortised over the period of their 
expected useful life, when the asset is determined available for use. Patents costs that relate to  
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5.         Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

projects that are in the development phase are capitalised. Research and development grants 
receivable are matched to their classification of expenditure. In the periods where research costs are 
expensed, the related research and development grant is reported in the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as other income. In periods where the Group incurs 
Development Costs, the related Research and Development grant is recognised as a credit to 
capitalised development costs, reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

The carrying value of development expenditure, intangible assets and intellectual property is tested 
for impairment annually when the asset is not yet available for use or more frequently when an 
indication of impairment arises during the reporting period.   

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the capitalised development carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and 
value-in-use. To determine the recoverable amount, management have used fair value less costs of 
disposal. 

When intangible assets are assessed as being ready for use, they are assessed for impairment in 
accordance with Note 5I. 

I. Impairment testing of non-financial assets 

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.   

All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and value-in-use. To determine the  fair value less costs of disposal, management utilises an 
internal cost approach model of replacement cost. The replacement cost approach is a valuation 
technique that reflects the amount that would be required to replace the asset. 

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit to the extent that the value of the asset exceeds its fair value. All assets are 
subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no 
longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount 
exceeds its carrying amount.   

J. Financial instruments 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.    
A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
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5. Summary of accounting policies (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially 
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified 
into the following categories: 

 amortised cost

 fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

In the periods presented the corporation does not have any financial assets categorised as FVOCI. 
The classification is determined by both: 

 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset

 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of 
trade receivables which is presented within other expenses. 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost. 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are 
not designated as FVTPL): 

 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and
collect its contractual cash flows

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments as well 
as listed bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139. 

Impairment of financial assets 

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected 
credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. 

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. 
Instead the Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and 
measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the 
instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between: 

 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and
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5.         Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

 

 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’). 

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting 
date. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected 
credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 

K. Income taxes 

Tax expense recognised in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO) and other fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
periods that are unpaid at the reporting date.  Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs 
from profit or loss in the financial statements.  Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases.  However, deferred tax is not 
provided on the initial recognition of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
unless the related transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit.  Deferred 
tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not 
provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected 
to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.   

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be 
utilised against future taxable income, based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results 
which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of 
any unused tax loss or credit.  Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full.   

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when the Group has a right and intention to set off 
current tax assets and liabilities from the same taxation authority. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax income or expense 
in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income (such as the revaluation of land) or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax 
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.   

FBR and all its wholly owned Australian controlled entities are a tax consolidated group. As a 
consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of 
these entities are to be set off in the consolidated financial statements. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



FBR LTD - 30 June 2023  Page 41 

5.         Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

L. Equity, reserves and dividend payments 

Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued.  Any transaction costs 
associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax 
benefits.   

Other components of equity include the following: 

 Share options reserve comprises the expense of vested option payments. 

 Performance rights reserve comprises the expense of vested performance rights payments. 

 Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits.   

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 

M. Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected to be 
settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service. Examples of such benefits include wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits 
and accumulating personal leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The Group’s liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are included in other long term 
benefits as they are not expected to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service. They are measured at the present value 
of the expected future payments to be made to employees. The expected future payments 
incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of service, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate 
the timing of the estimated future cash outflows. Any re-measurements arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in assumptions are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the 
changes occur. 

The Group presents employee benefit obligations as current liabilities in the statement of financial 
position if the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve 
(12) months after the reporting period, irrespective of when the actual settlement is expected to 
take place. 

N. Share-based payments 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in 
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if 
the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
recipient, as measured at the date of modification. 
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5.         Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 
award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options or share performance rights is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted loss per share.  

O. Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and 
payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
components of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

P. Significant management judgement and estimates in applying accounting policies 

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. The actual results may differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by 
management, and will seldom equal the estimated results. 

Additional significant estimates and judgements include: 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of the options 
issued during the reporting period has been determined by using various models as appropriate. 
Details of the estimates used to determine the fair value are detailed in Note 24. 

Capitalised development costs 

Distinguishing the research and development phases of the project and determining whether the 
recognition requirements phases of the project and determining whether the recognition 
requirements for the capitalisation of development costs are met requires judgement. After 
capitalisation, management monitors whether recognition requirements continue to be met and 
whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired. 

An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher 
its fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. Management has subjected the Group's 
capitalised Development costs (Note 18) to impairment testing.  Management reviews its carrying 
value of capitalised development and intellectual property annually by comparing the carrying value 
against fair value less costs of disposal using an internal cost approach model of replacement cost. 
The replacement cost approach is a valuation technique that reflects the amount that would be  
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5.         Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

required to replace the asset. This replacement amount exceeded the carrying value of the assets of 
the CGU. 

Useful lives of depreciable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, 
based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technological 
obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and IT equipment. 

 
Useful lives of amortisable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of amortizable assets at each reporting date, 
based on the expected utility of the assets.  During the period the group’s development asset was 
assessed as being ready for use. Once an asset is ready for use it is required to determine its 
expected useful life. Given the industry the group is seeking to disrupt and the relative uniqueness of 
the group’s Hadrian asset uncertainty is involved in establishing this position. Uncertainties in these 
estimates relate to the availability, protectability and applicability of the group patent portfolio, 
expected Hadrian machine lifetimes, comparable and competing industry technology and typical 
technology commercialisation cycles. 
 
Recognition of deferred tax assets 

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the 
probability that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required 
in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions. 

6. Segment reporting 

The Group has identified one operating segment based on the internal reports that are reviewed 
and used by the executive management team (the chief operating decision makers) in assessing 
performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 

The Group operates in Australia (building technology) and prepares reports internally by this 
location. 

Other prospective opportunities outside of this geographical location are also considered from time 
to time, and if they are secured, will then be attributed to the geographical location where they are 
located. All of the Group’s non-current assets are held in Australia and all interest revenue is derived 
from funds invested in short-term money market instruments, all of which are held within Australia. 

7. Revenue 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Wall as a Service and Construction Services sales   214,080 273,561 
Residential housing sales   1,448,596 491,665 
  1,662,676 765,226 
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8. Other Income 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Government grants  85,200 61,200 
Other  7,176 3,017 
  92,376 64,217 

9. Expenses 

A. Professional services 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Legal costs  235,785 184,542 
Marketing  67,850 81,359 
Accountancy, audit and tax  502,956 358,834 
Corporate consultants  275,842 201,485 

  1,082,433 826,220 

B. Directors’ and employees’ benefits 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Wages, salaries and directors’ fees  14,717,047 9,724,813 
Superannuation  1,411,161 949,055 
Annual leave entitlements  257,126 192,382 
Long service leave entitlements  190,842 46,123 
Capitalised to Hadrian development costs  (171,895) (2,106,299) 
Capitalised to Hadrian WIP       (3,240,008)      (210,964) 
Capitalised to Shuttle system development costs       (421,981)      (108,599) 

    12,742,292 8,486,511 
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9. Expenses (continued)

C. Other expenses

Consolidated 
30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Insurance  308,676 254,820 
Travel expenses 445,301 199,042 
Compliance costs 232,102 209,625 
Subscriptions  270,720 229,685 
Staff training costs  41,198 33,911 
IP expenses 279,950 110,486 
Employee oncosts 956,470 689,385 
Borrowing costs 772,784 412,230 
Recruitment costs 23,602 38,247 
Website development costs  - 1,500
Other administration expenses 1,304,712 1,360,439

4,635,515 3,539,370 
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10. Income tax expense

The major components of tax expense and the reconciliation of the expected tax expense based on 
the domestic effective tax rate of FBR LTD at 25% (2022: 25%) and the reported tax expense in profit 
or loss are as follows: 

30 June 2023 
$ 

30 June 2022 
$ 

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense (22,886,197) (19,978,660) 

- Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before
income tax at 25% (2022: 25%) (5,721,549) (4,994,665) 

Add (less) tax effect of: 

- Non-deductible items - Entertainment 6,874 4,181 
- Non-deductible items - Share/Option Based Payments expensed 1,318,731 760,142 
- Permanent differences relating to R&D costs 2,622,886 930,867 
- Non-deductible items - Other - 774
- Costs recognised in equity 119,055 (199,826)
- Change in tax rate - 98,506
- Prior year unders and overs - 275,762
- Other (34,057) - 
- Movement in temporary differences not recognised 1,688,060 3,124,259 

Income tax expense - - 
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10.  Income tax expense (continued) 

Deferred tax assets (“DTA”) and liabilities (“DTL”) 
recognised relate to the following:     

   

 
30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
DTA   
Tax losses & non-refundable offsets (Group) - Note 
10b 15,604,954 13,056,199 
Other temporary differences (DTA closing balance)   

Patent Costs 43,846 46,282 
Domain registrations 510 680 
In-house software 28,030 100,512 
Blackhole expenditure - 150 
Lease cancellation costs - 4,672 
Accruals & other payables 139,213 219,063 
Finance lease liability 566,900 484,210 
Provisions 704,690 251,511 
Capital Raising Costs through equity 497,884 378,679 
Borrowing Costs 26,872 33,590 
Website development costs 3,511 - 
Cash assets (6,927) 12,334 
Inventory 218,573 168,661 
   

DTL   
Other temporary differences (DTL closing balance)   

Trade receivables (21,983) (15,599) 
Prepayments (146,877) (178,304) 
Investment in Hadrian (7,180,771) (7,971,659) 
Right of Use assets (562,050) (476,833) 
Property, plant & equipment (2,522,600) (408,433) 
   

Net deferred tax asset not recognised at 25% - Note 
10a & 10b 

7,393,775 5,705,715 

   
Note 10a: The net deferred tax asset in 2023, not recognised is at a 25% tax rate, being FBRs likely 
tax rate for the 2023 year. 
FBR is classified as a small business entity and base rate entity for the year ended 30 June 2023. 
The income tax rate for base rate entities for the year ended 30 June 2023 is 25% (2022: 25%). 
 
Note 10b: The deferred tax asset at 25% which is attributable to tax losses carried forward at 30 
June 2023 is $15,604,954 (2022: $13,056,199 at 25% rate).  
 
As the deferred tax asset exceeds the deferred tax liability at 30 June 2023, FBR has partially 
offset the deferred tax asset against the deferred tax liability and not recognised the net deferred 
tax asset in the consolidated statement of financial position and profit and loss. 
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11.  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Cash at bank and on deposit  13,402,405 11,518,907 

 

Security deposits held by the Group’s bank in-relation to credit card facilities and rental properties 
total $1,005,000 (2022: $832,313). 

 

12.  Inventories 

Inventories include the following components: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Cost   1,353,883  2,045,133 

Inventory impairment   (199,647) (674,644) 
Carrying Amount at 30 June  1,154,236 1,370,489 
    

Inventories have been reduced by $199,647 (2022: $674,644) as a result of the write-down to net 
realisable value. This write-down was recognised as an expense during 2023.  

13.  Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Research and Development tax rebate  8,768,251 5,610,921 
Construction services   - 128,350 
GST receivable   378,011 393,630 
Interest receivable  14,733 1,195 
Director loans (note 29)  257,182 228,236 
Grants receivable  73,200 61,200 
Other receivables   75,267 46,878 
  9,566,644 6,470,410 

All amounts are short-term.  The net carrying value of trade and other receivables is considered a 
reasonable approximation of fair value. 
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13.  Trade and other receivables (continued) 

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair 
value as this financial asset (which is measured at amortised cost) is expected to be settled within six 
(6) months. 

All of the Group’s trade and other receivables that are not financial assets have been reviewed for 
indicators of impairment with none being noted. 

 

14.  Other current assets  

Other current assets consist of the following:  

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Prepayments    587,509 713,216 
  587,509 713,216 
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15.  Financial  assets and l iabil ities 

A. Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

Note 5 J provides a description of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities and the 
related accounting policies.   

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows: 

 Notes 
Financial assets  

at amortised cost Total 
  $ $ 
30 June 2023    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 13,402,405 13,402,405 

Trade and other receivables  420,382 420,382 

  13,822,787 13,822,787 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 2,953,631 2,953,631 

Lease liabilities  20 2,267,600 2,267,600 

Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility  642,274 642,274 

Construction loan facility  583,974 583,974 

Hadrian lease finance facility  1,821,148 1,821,148 

Research & development tax refund loan   4,000,000 4,000,000 

  12,268,627 12,268,627 

    

 Notes 
Financial assets  

at amortised cost Total 
  $ $ 
30 June 2022    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 11,518,907 11,518,907 

Trade and other receivables  465,859 465,859 

  11,984,766 11,984,766 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables 18 3,551,123 3,551,123 

Lease liabilities  20 1,936,840 1,936,840 

Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility  822,796 822,796 

Construction loan facility  1,163,412 1,163,412 

Hadrian lease finance facility  2,267,963 2,267,963 

Research & development tax refund loan   4,000,000 4,000,000 

  13,742,134 13,742,134 

The methods used to measure financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value are described in 
Note 32. 
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15.  Financial  assets and l iabi l ities (cont inued)  

Other financial instruments 

The carrying amount of the following financial assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable 
approximation of fair value: 

 trade and other receivables; 

 cash and cash equivalents;  

 trade and other payables; 

 lease payables; and 

 loans. 

16.  Property, plant and equipment  

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

30 June 2023 

 

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

FURNITURE & 
FITTINGS 

ICT EQUIPMENT HADRIAN 
WORK IN 

PROGRESS TOTAL 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Gross carrying amount      

Balance at 1 July 2022 3,729,514  1,028,360  2,228,759  1,967,782  8,954,415  

Additions 613,738 53,182 55,776 9,984,707 10,707,403 

Disposals (3,182)  -  -  -  (3,182)  

Balance at 30 June 2023 4,340,070 1,081,542 2,284,534 11,952,489 19,658,635 

      

Depreciation and impairment      

Balance at 1 July 2022 (992,592) (938,957) (2,061,457) - (3,993,006) 

Disposals 2,757 - - - 2,757 

Depreciation (446,592) (28,019) (101,518) - (576,129) 

Impairment - - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2023 (1,436,427) (966,976) (2,162,974) - (4,566,377) 

      

Carrying amount at 30 June 
2023 

2,903,643 114,566 121,560 11,952,489 15,092,258 
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16.   Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

30 June 2022 

 
PLANT & 

EQUIPMENT 
FURNITURE & 

FITTINGS 
ICT EQUIPMENT WORK IN 

PROGRESS TOTAL 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Gross carrying amount      

Balance at 1 July 2021 2,487,054  1,011,051  2,179,113  -  5,677,218  

Additions 1,242,460 17,309 50,736 1,967,782 3,278,287 

Disposals -  -  (1,090)  -  (1,090)  

Balance at 30 June 2022 3,729,514 1,028,360 2,228,759 1,967,782 8,954,415 

      

Depreciation and impairment      

Balance at 1 July 2021 (616,124) (833,153) (1,124,342) - (2,573,619) 

Disposals - - 667 - 667 

Depreciation1 (376,468) (105,804) (185,940) - (668,212) 

Impairment - - (751,842) - (751,842) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 (992,592) (938,957) (2,061,457) - (3,993,006) 
      

Carrying amount at 30 June 
2022 

2,736,922 89,403 167,302 1,967,782 4,961,409 

 

1. $154,118 of depreciation charges for the prior period in relation to property, plant and equipment have been capitalised to 

development costs.  
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17.  Right-of-use assets 

The following table below shows the net carrying amount of the right-of-use assets: 

30 June 2023 

  Land & Buildings 
$ 

ICT 
Equipment 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
     
Carrying amount at 1 July 2022    1,887,646 19,686  1,907,332 
Lease modification  1,594,233 - 1,594,233 
Depreciation  (1,234,184) (19,180) (1,253,364) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2023  2,247,695 506  2,248,201  

 

 

30 June 2022 

  Land & Buildings 
$ 

ICT 
Equipment 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
     
Carrying amount at 1 July 2021    1,021,250 72,826  1,094,076 
Lease modification  2,055,743 - 2,055,743 
Depreciation1  (1,189,347) (53,140) (1,242,487) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2022  1,887,646 19,686  1,907,332  

 
1. $361,025 of depreciation charges for the prior period in relation to the right-of-use assets have been capitalised to 

development costs.  

 
 

As at 30 June 2023, the group operates leases in respect of an office, workshop and ICT equipment.  

The lease contract for the head office and workshop has a non-cancellable term of (12) months and 
expires 30 June 2024. 

The lease contract for the second office has a non-cancellable term of (21) months and expires 4 April 
2025. 

With the exception of short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, each lease is 
reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. Variable lease payments 
which do not depend on an index or a rate (such as lease payments based on a percentage of Group 
sales) are excluded from the initial measurement of the lease liability and asset.  
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18.  Development costs 

Development costs are capitalised when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its 
commercial and technical feasibility, the consolidated entity is able to use or sell the asset, the 
consolidated entity has sufficient resources; and intent to complete the development and its costs can 
be measured reliably.  The Company currently has two development assets. One is not yet available for 
use and accordingly is tested for impairment annually as required by AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 
The other development asset is available for use and is tested for impairment when there are 
indicators of impairment. Once available for use, capitalised development costs are amortised over the 
period of their expected life. Patent costs that relate to projects that are in the development phase are 
capitalised.  

The following tables show the movements in development costs associated with the Hadrian X and the 
Shuttle system: 

  Hadrian 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Gross carrying amount     46,331,706 46,321,925 
Additions   1,019,390 3,973,503 
R&D tax incentives  (93,284) (1,942,242) 
Amortisation expense  (3,163,551) (2,021,480) 
  44,094,261 46,331,706 
    
Additions    
Consultants  - 248,266 
Employee benefits  171,895 2,106,299 
Equipment hire  - - 
Materials  - 267,960 
Occupancy expense  - 482,706 
Share-based payments  - (365,659) 
Patents and trademarks  847,495 744,166 
Overheads and other  - 489,765 
Total additions  1,019,390 3,973,503 
    
  Shuttle System 
 
 

 30 June 2023 
$ 

30 June 2022 
$ 

Gross carrying amount     62,819 - 
Additions   686,101 111,184 
R&D tax incentives  (298,453) (48,365) 
  450,467 62,819 
    
Additions    
Employee benefits  421,981 108,599 
Materials  264,120     2,585  
Total additions  686,101 111,184 
    
Total Development costs  44,544,728 46,394,525 
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19.  Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables consist of the following: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Trade creditors  1,913,105 2,185,771 
Accrued expenses  556,851 873,065 
Other payables  483,675 492,287 
  2,953,631 3,551,123 

All amounts are short-term.  The carrying values of trade payables and other payables are 
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

 

20.  Provisions 

The carrying amounts and movements in the provisions account are as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Current    
Employee entitlements – Annual leave  1,006,378 570,442 
Employee entitlements – Long service leave  168,802 - 
Onerous contracts  1,364,746 184,404 
  2,539,926 754,846 
    
Non-current    
Employee entitlements – Annual leave  - 178,810 
Employee entitlements – Long service leave  278,833 256,793 
Onerous contracts  - 138,303 
  278,833 573,906 

The current portion of these liabilities represents the Group’s obligations to its current and former 
employees that are expected to be settled during the next financial year.   
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21.  Lease Liabil i ties 

Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Lease liabilities (current)   1,397,658 1,220,117 
Lease liabilities (non-current)  869,942 716,723 
  2,267,600 1,936,840 

 

The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets. Future minimum lease payments as at 
30 June 2023 are as follows: 

  Within one 
year 

$ 
 

One to five 
years 

$ 

After 5 
years 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 

30 June 2023        
Lease payments   1,501,450 893,590 - 2,395,040 
Finance expenses  (103,790) (23,650) - (127,440) 
Net present values  1,397,660 869,940 -  2,267,600  
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22. Borrowings

The carrying amounts in the loans and borrowings accounts are as follows: 

Consolidated 
30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
Current 
Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility1 176,095 166,265 
Construction loan facility2 583,974 1,163,412 
R&D tax refund loan3 4,000,000 4,000,000 
Hadrian lease finance facility4 467,024 410,356 

5,227,093 5,740,033 

Non-Current 
Chattel mortgage equipment loan facility1 466,178 656,531 
Hadrian lease finance facility4 1,354,124 1,857,607 

1,820,302 2,514,138 
1 The chattel mortgage equipment loan facility with HP Financial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd has a 
first ranking security over the equipment and has an interest rate of 5.50% p.a.. The facility matures 
on 30 November 2026. 

2 During the prior period FBR secured construction financing for robotically built housing to support 
and grow FBR’s construction operations using the Hadrian X® construction robot and the Fastbrick 
Wall System®. FBR signed an agreement with FC Securities Pty Ltd for a $2 million revolving debt 
facility to finance up to 67.5% of the land and construction cost of five homes FBR is building in 
Wellard, plus any subsequent FBR residential builds within the 30-month term of the facility. The 
facility gives FC first ranking securities comprising a mortgage over the Wellard properties and FBR’s 
subsidiary Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. The facility has an interest rate on drawn funds of 9.00% 
per annum, a 2.25% setup fee, and a 3.00% line fee. The facility limit was voluntarily reduced to $1.2 
million during the period. 

3 During the prior period FBR entered into a revolving R&D tax loan facility with FC Capital, in place 
until 31 December 2024. The facility allows FBR to draw down on a monthly basis as needed, up to 
90% of its presently earned R&D tax incentive rebates or $4.0 million, whichever is lower at the 
time. The facility carries a one off 1.5% establishment fee and a 3.0% line fee per annum and placed 
a General Security Agreement over FBR LTD and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. It has an initial 
interest rate of 8.50% per annum during 2022 and then an interest rate of 8.15% per annum plus the 
published one month bid rate for the Australian Bank Bill Swap Reference Rate (BBSW). Subsequent 
to the end of period the facility limit was increased by $2.0 million and the interest rate was 
increased by 1.0%. 

4 During the prior period FBR entered into a Lease Finance Facility with FC Capital to provide asset 
finance for FBR’s two existing Hadrian X® construction robots at $1.15 million per Hadrian X®. The 
finance facility has a three-year term and a 40% balloon payment at the end of the term, with a 2.0% 
establishment fee and an interest rate of 12.0% per annum. The facility placed a General Security 
Agreement over FBR LTD and Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd. F
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23.  Share capital  

Ordinary shares 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
 $ No. $ No. 

Ordinary shares, fully paid 148,845,254 3,668,898,314 116,567,987 2,651,028,536 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue 

Movement in ordinary shares on issue $ No. 

Shares on issue at 1 July 2022 116,567,987 2,651,028,536 

Capital raising    

13 July 2022 Placement (at $0.018 per share) 1,929,628 107,201,578 

1 November 2022 Placement (at $0.040 per share) 20,000,000 500,000,000 

     17 March 2023 Placement (at $0.033 per share) 7,491,000 227,000,000 

    24 April 2023 Loan funded shares repaid (at $0.033 per 
share) 

1,650,000 - 

     Capital Raising Costs (1,476,161) - 

Performance rights converted (6 July 2022) 806,255          20,673,200 

Performance rights converted (10 November 2022) 191,880 4,920,000 

Performance rights converted (27 April 2023) 80,925 2,075,000 

Options conversion (10 August 2022) at $0.0225 per share 1,603,740          56,000,000 

Loan funded shares issued (28 December 2022) to executive 
directors 

-       100,000,000 

Shares on issue at 30 June 2023 148,845,254 3,668,898,314 

On 6 July 2022, the company completed the issue of 20,673,200 fully paid ordinary shares upon the 
exercise of unquoted performance rights that vested on achievement of performance milestones in 
accordance with the company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

On 13 July 2022, the company completed the issue of 107,201,578 fully paid ordinary shares to 
Brickworks through a strategic private placement. 

On 10 August 2022, the company completed the issue of 56,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon 
the exercise of unquoted options. 

On 1 November 2022, the Company completed the issue of 500,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to 
a group of new and existing institutional, sophisticated and strategic investors. 

On 10 November 2022, the company completed the issue of 4,920,000 fully paid ordinary shares 
upon the exercise of unquoted performance rights that had previously vested on achievement of 
performance milestones in accordance with the company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

On 17 March 2023, the company completed the issue of 227,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to 
M&G through a strategic private placement. 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



FBR LTD - 30 June 2023  Page 59 

23.  Share capital  (continued) 

On 27 April 2023, the company completed the issue of 2,075,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon the 
exercise of unquoted performance rights that had previously vested on achievement of performance 
milestones in accordance with the company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of shares held and in proportion to the amount paid up on the shares 
held. At shareholders meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid 
up amount of the share when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of 
hands. The share capital of FBR consists only of fully paid ordinary shares, and the shares do not 
have a par value.  All ordinary shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of 
capital and represent one vote at the shareholders’ meeting of FBR. 

Loan Funded shares 

On 24 December 2022, 25,000,000 short term loan funded shares related to each Executive Director 
expired. These loan funded shares were subsequently sold on 24 April 2023 to M&G as part of a 
strategic placement to M&G. These shares were previously issued to FBR’s Executive Directors, 
Michael Pivac and Mark Pivac, in 2020 as loan funded shares with the loan term expiring in 
December 2022. Full proceeds of the sale of these shares went directly and solely to FBR in part 
repayment of the outstanding loans. The balance of the outstanding non cash loans was forgiven 
under the terms of the loan funded share incentive plan. 

On 28 December 2022, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 new Loan Funded incentive 
shares as a director loan to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting on 28 November 2022 (refer Note 29).  

The following table illustrates the outstanding loan funded shares granted, repaid and forfeited 
during the year. 

 30 June 2023 
Number 

30 June 2022 
Number 

Outstanding at 1 July 100,000,000 100,000,000 

Granted during the year  100,000,000 - 

Repaid during the year (50,000,000) - 

Cancelled/forfeited during the year - - 

Loan Funded Shares at 30 June 150,000,000 100,000,000 

Loan funded shares do not have a par value and for all intents and purposes are identical to ordinary 
shares. Loan funded shares are eligible to receive dividends and repayment of capital. Loan funded 
shares are entitled to vote at the shareholders’ meeting of FBR. 
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24.  Share based payments 

Ordinary shares 

There were no ordinary shares granted as consideration for services provided to the Company 
during the year. 

Options 

At the start of the period the Company issued 56,000,000 unlisted incentive options to Key 
Management Personnel with an 18 month expiry with an exercise price of $0.0225.  These options 
were exercised during the period and following the exercise the Company issued 56,000,000 
unlisted incentive options to Key Management Personnel with a 16 month expiry with an exercise 
price of $0.035. No options were issued to directors during the period. There were no other options 
issued by the Company during the year. The following table illustrates the outstanding options 
granted, exercised and forfeited during the year. 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
 Number Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

(cents) 

Number Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
(cents) 

     

Outstanding at 1 July - - 5,800,000 30.0 
Granted during the year 112,000,000 2.9 - - 
Converted during the year  (56,000,000) 2.3 - - 
Expired during the year - - (5,800,000) 30.0 
Forfeited during the year - - - - 
Outstanding as at 30 June 56,000,000 3.5 - - 

Performance rights 

There were 167,250,000 performance rights issued during the current year (2022: 38,620,000). The 
weighted average fair value of the performance rights granted during the current year is $0.033 
(2022: $0.039). Performance rights do not have a par value.  Performance rights are not eligible to 
receive dividends or repayment of capital. Performance rights are not entitled to vote at the 
shareholders’ meeting of FBR. The following table illustrates the outstanding performance rights 
granted, exercised and forfeited during the year. 

 30 June 2023 
Number 

30 June 2022 
Number 

Outstanding at 1 July 51,498,200 78,970,028 

Granted during the year  167,250,000 38,620,000 

Converted during the year (27,668,200) (27,414,000) 

Expired during the year (14,625,000) (33,123,256) 

Forfeited during the year (2,810,000) (5,554,572) 

Performance rights at 30 June 173,645,000 51,498,200 
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24.  Share based payments (continued) 

On 25 July 2022, the Company issued 52,750,000 unlisted performance rights to the employees of 
FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the following classes: 

i. 26,375,000 Performance Rights Class A (since either cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting conditions for 5,275,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
completed mechanical assembly of the first Hadrian 110 before 30 September 2022. 

Vesting conditions for 5,275,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
completed the commissioning of the first Hadrian 110 and demonstrated a lay rate of 360 
blocks per hour before 31 March 2023. 

Vesting conditions for 5,275,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
completed mechanical assembly of the second Hadrian 110 before 30 April 2023. 

Vesting conditions for 5,275,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
completed the commissioning of second Hadrian 110 and demonstrated a lay rate of 360 
blocks per hour before 30 June 2023. 

Vesting conditions for 5,275,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
demonstrated a Hadrian 110 lay rate of 500 blocks per hour before 30 June 2023. 

All Class A Performance Rights have a milestone date on or before 30 June 2023 and an 
expiry date of 31 July 2024. If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights expire on the expiry 
date. 

 

ii. 26,375,000 Performance Rights Class B (since either converted to ordinary shares or vested, 
cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 

All Class B Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2023 and an expiry date of 
31 July 2024. If unconverted, Class B Performance Rights expire on the expiry date. 

 

The fair value of these 52,750,000 performance rights granted during the prior year, assuming 
that 100% of the performance rights would vest, was $1,250,650 of which 100% was expensed. 
during the period. 

 

On 22 December 2022, the Company issued 104,000,000 unlisted performance rights to the KMP 
and employees of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the 
following classes: 

i. 52,000,000 Performance Rights Class C  (still on issue) 

Vesting conditions for Performance Rights Class C; The Company has received binding 
purchase orders for its products and services with a cumulative total value of $30 million 
AUD. 

All Class C Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2025 and an expiry date of 
31 July 2026. If unconverted, Class C Performance Rights expire on the expiry date. 
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24.  Share based payments (continued)  

ii. 52,000,000 Performance Rights Class D (still on issue) 

Vesting condition for Class D; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 

All Class D Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2025 and an expiry date of 
31 July 2026. If unconverted, Class D Performance Rights expire on the expiry date. 

The fair value of these 104,000,000 performance rights granted during the prior year, assuming 
that 100% of the performance rights will vest at 30 June 2025, was $3,952,000 of which 
$858,946 was expensed during the period.  

 

On 22 December 2022, the Company issued 10,500,000 unlisted performance rights to employees of 
FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are in the following class: 

iii. 10,500,000 Performance Rights Class B (since either converted to ordinary shares or vested, 
cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of 
employee individual performance goals. 

All Class B Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 203 and an expiry date of 31 
July 2024. If unconverted, Class B Performance Rights expire on the expiry date. 

The fair value of these 10,500,000 performance rights granted during the prior year, assuming 
that 100% of the performance rights will vest at 30 June 2023, was $399,000 of which 100% was 
expensed during the period. 

 

In the prior year, on 19 October 2021, the Company issued 38,620,000 unlisted performance rights 
to the employees of FBR. These performance rights have no escrow period and are split in the 
following classes: 

i. 20,185,000 Performance Rights Class A (since either converted to ordinary shares or 
cancelled or forfeited) 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has built 
residential and non-residential structures comprising 5,000 vertical square metres of wall or 
more, excluding structures built in a factory environment, before 30 June 2022. Shares are 
awarded on a pro rata basis from 20% - 100% of the target, commencing at 1,000 vertical 
square metres of wall, excluding structures built in a factory environment. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
commissioned H114 using the 4 different pallet load system facilitating a minimum of laying 
4 different block types within the one structure lay. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has erected a 
wall using the Hadrian at rate of 2,100 SBE for 1 continuous hour or more. The wall can be 
laid with or without adhesive. 
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24. Share based payments (continued)

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has built the 
structural walls of a house in a suburban environment using blocks supplied by an 
international block supplier. 

Vesting conditions for 4,037,000 Performance Rights of Class A; The Company has 
completed an entire standard house build (227 vertical square metres or more of wall) 
including set up, pack up, and all down time, excluding structures built in a factory 
environment, in three days or less. 

All Class A Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2022 and an expiry date of 
31 July 2023. If unconverted, Class A Performance Rights expire on the expiry date. 

ii. 18,435,000 Performance Rights Class B (since either converted to ordinary shares or
cancelled or forfeited)

Vesting condition for Class B; Performance review results based on successful completion of
employee individual performance goals.

All Class B Performance Rights have a milestone date of 30 June 2022 and an expiry date of
31 July 2023. If unconverted, Class B Performance Rights expire on the expiry date.

The performance rights were valued using the spot price on grant date. The spot price was $0.039 
per share at the close of trade on 19 October 2021, being the date the performance rights were 
issued. 

The fair value of these 38,620,000 performance rights granted during the prior year, assuming 
that 100% of the performance rights would vest, was $1,506,180. Of this amount, $174,183 was 
capitalised to development costs, based on the number of performance rights issued to 
technical and engineering employees and the date the Hadrian development asset became 
available for use. A further $1,331,997 was expensed based on the number of performance 
rights issued to corporate and commercial employees during the prior year and the date the 
Hadrian development asset became available for use.  
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25.  Reserves  

 30 June 2023 
$ 

30 June 2022 
$ 

   
Share option reserve  2,266,019 1,497,925 
Performance right reserve 3,536,801 1,998,671 
 5,802,820 3,496,596 
   

 

Share option reserve comprises the expense of vested option share-based payments. The 
reconciliation is set out as follows: 

  30 June 2023 
$ 

30 June 2022 
$ 

Movement in option reserve    

Opening at 1 July  1,497,925 1,155,865 

Options converted to shares during the year  (343,740) - 

Options and loan funded shares issued   2,261,834 988,686 

Options and loan funded shares expired  (1,150,000) (564,584) 

Options and loan funded shares extended during the 
period 

 - (82,042) 

Closing at 30 June   2,266,019 1,497,925 

 

 

Performance rights reserve comprises the expense of vested performance right share-based 
payments. The reconciliation is set out as follows: 

  30 June 2023 
$ 

30 June 2022 
$ 

Movement in performance right reserve    

Opening at 1 July  1,998,671 3,325,339 

Performance rights converted to shares during the year  (1,079,060) (1,672,254) 

Performance rights issued during the year  3,013,090 2,439,080 

Performance rights expired during the period  (317,622) (1,769,216) 

Performance rights forfeited during the period  (78,278) (324,278) 

Closing at 30 June   3,536,801 1,998,671 
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26.  Earnings per share 

Both the basic and diluted earnings per share have been calculated using the profit attributable to 
shareholders of the Legal Parent Company (FBR LTD) as the numerator, i.e. no adjustments to profits 
were necessary during the twelve (12) months period to 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022. 

The weighted average number of shares for the purposes of the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share can be reconciled to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share as follows: 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
   

   

Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings 
per share 3,271,929,561 2,336,881,258 

Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect 
of share-based payments 

 
- 

 
- 

Weighted average number of shares used in diluted 
earnings per share 3,271,929,561 2,336,881,258 

   

 

27.  Reconcil iat ion of cash f lows from operating activities 

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities: 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
 $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss for the period after income tax expense (22,886,197) (19,978,660) 

Adjustments for:     

• depreciation, amortisation and impairment 5,192,691 4,843,522 

• share-based payments 5,274,924 3,040,568 

• Onerous contracts 1,226,443 - 

• interest receivable (42,484) (1,125) 

• construction income receivable - (128,350) 

• grants income receivable (73,200) (61,200) 

• R&D tax rebate income portion receivable (8,645,963) (3,620,314) 

   

Net changes in working capital:     

• change in trade and other receivables   3,897,479 (1,040,324) 

• change in other assets 165,640 (133,104) 

• change in trade and other payables (941,383) 1,737,114 

Net cash from operating activities (16,832,050) (15,341,873) 
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28.  Auditor  remuneration 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 

 $ $ 

   

Audit services remuneration paid to Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd, 
the auditor of the Group: 

  

Audit and review of financial statements 154,000 145,600 

Remuneration for audit and review of financial statements 154,000 145,600 

There were no non-audit services provided during the period by the Auditor. 

 

29.  Related party transactions  

The Group’s related parties include its Key Management Personnel.   

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received.  Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of FBR Ltd, and the entities 
listed in the following table. Equity interest is directly held by FBR Ltd. 

  % Equity interest 

 Country of incorporation June 2023 June 2022 

    

Fastbrick IP Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Engineering Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

The Architectural Designer Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Operations Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Fastbrick Americas LLC USA 100% - 

Fastbrick Americas Holdings LLC USA 100% - 

    

 

Key Management Personnel remuneration 

Key Management Personnel of the Group are the members of FBR’s Board of Directors and 
members of the Executive Team.  Key Management Personnel remuneration includes the following 
expenses: 

  Consolidated 
  30 June 2023 

$ 
30 June 2022 

$ 
    
Short-term employee benefits  2,035,199 1,841,681 
Post-employment benefits  171,353 134,765 
Long-term benefits  85,239 74,053 
Share based payments – Short Term Incentive  1,637,463 1,017,260 
Share based payments – Long Term Incentive  1,106,269 756,585 
    5,035,523 3,824,344 
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29.  Related party transactions (continued) 

Agreements with Directors or Related Parties 

Director Loan Agreement 

During prior periods the Company paid $190,000 as an unsecured interest bearing loan to Mark 
Pivac in relation to tax payments relating to Performance Rights issued under the Company’s 
Performance Rights Plan. The amount (plus $67,182 interest) remains outstanding at 30 June 2023. 
The loan has a maturity date of 31 December 2023 and an interest rate at the higher of 4.520% per 
annum and the highest rate of interest payable by the Company to any financier of the Company at 
the relevant time. 

Loan Funded Shares 

During the prior year, on 24 December 2020, the Company issued 100,000,000 Loan Funded 
incentive shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 26 November 2020. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided under a 
limited recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which pertains to 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to the other 
25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

During the prior year, at the Company’s AGM on 20 December 2021, the Company extended the 
term by a further 12 months for the 50,000,000 loan funded shares originally issued with a 12 month 
term. These loan funded shares then expired unexercised on 24 December 2022 and were sold by 
the Company to a third party investor. The executive directors did not receive any proceeds or 
benefit from the sale. 

During the current year, on 28 December 2022, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 Loan 
Funded incentive shares to the Executive Directors following approval by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting on 28 November 2022. The Loan Funded incentive shares were provided 
under a limited recourse, interest free loan. For each Executive Director, half of the loan, which 
pertains to 25,000,000 shares is repayable within 12 months and half of the loan, which pertains to 
the other 25,000,000 shares is repayable within 36 months. 

Guarantees 

There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related parties. 

30.  Contingent l iabil it ies 

At the reporting date the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2022: nil). 

31.  Financial  instrument r isk  

A. Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments.  The Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities are summarised by category in Note 15.  The main types of risks are market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. 
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31.  Financial  Instrument Risk (continued)  

The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close cooperation with the 
Board of Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by 
minimising the exposure to financial markets.  Long-term financial investments are managed to 
generate lasting returns.   

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options.  The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are 
described below.   

Market risk analysis 

The Group is exposed to market risk, specifically interest rate risk, through the investment of excess 
working capital into the short term money market. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The consolidated entity's only exposure to interest rate risk is in relation to deposits held. Deposits 
are held with reputable banking financial institutions. 

 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 

 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate Balance 
 % $ % $ 

Cash at bank 0.80% 12,397,405 0.01% 10,686,594 

Cash on deposit 2.48%   1,005,000 0.13%       832,313 

  13,402,405  11,518,907 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity to a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates of +/- 0.5% (2022: +/- 0.5%).  These changes are considered to be reasonably possible 
based on observation of current market conditions.  The calculations are based on a change in the 
average market interest rate for each period, and the financial instruments held at each reporting 
date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates.  All other variables are held constant. 

 

  Profit for the year Equity 
  $ $ $ $ 
  0.50% -0.50% 0.50% -0.50% 
Cash at bank         

30-Jun-23 61,987 (61,987) 61,987 (61,987) 
30-Jun-22 53,433 (53,433) 53,433 (53,433) 

        
Cash on deposit       

30-Jun-23 5,025 (5,025) 5,025 (5,025) 
30-Jun-22 4,162 (4,162) 4,162 (4,162) 
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31.  Financial  Instrument Risk (continued)  

Credit risk analysis 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group.  The Group is 
exposed to this risk for various financial instruments, for example by granting loans and receivables 
to customers, placing deposits, investment in bonds etc.  The Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the reporting date, as 
summarised below: 

 

 30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
 $ $ 

Classes of financial assets   
Carrying amounts:   

 Cash and cash equivalents 13,402,405 11,518,907 

 Trade and other receivables 420,382 465,858 

 13,822,787 11,984,765 

The Group continuously monitors defaults of counterparties, identified either individually or by 
Group and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.  The Group’s policy is to deal 
only with creditworthy counterparties. 

The Group’s management considers that all of the above financial assets that are not impaired or 
past due for each of the 30 June reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. 

Trade and other receivables consist of Grants and Interest Receivable, Director Loans and Trade 
Debtors.  Based on historical information about customer default rates management consider the 
credit quality of trade receivables that are not past due or impaired to be good. 

The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties are 
reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. 

Liquidity risk analysis 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might be unable to meet its obligations.  The Group manages 
its liquidity needs by monitoring forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business.  The 
data used for analysing these cash flows is consistent with that used in the contractual maturity 
analysis below.  Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and week-to-
week basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30 day projection.  Long-term liquidity needs for a 180 
day and a 360 day lookout period are identified monthly.  Net cash requirements are compared to 
available borrowing facilities in order to determine headroom or any shortfalls.  This analysis shows 
that available borrowing facilities are expected to be sufficient over the lookout period. 

The Group’s objective is to maintain cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity 
requirements for 30 day periods at a minimum.  This objective was met for the reporting periods.  
Funding for long-term liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities and the ability to sell long-term financial assets.   

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity 
risk, in particular its cash resources and trade receivables.  The Group’s existing cash resources and  
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31. Financial  Instrument Risk (continued)

trade receivables (see Statement of Financial Position) significantly exceed the current cash outflow 
requirements.  Cash flows from other receivables are all due within six (6) months. 

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities have contractual maturities 
(including interest payments where applicable) as summarised below: 

Current Non-current 
Within 6 
months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 5+ years 

$ $ $ $ 
30 June 2023 
Trade and other payables 2,953,631  - -  - 
Lease liabilities 750,725 750,725 893,590  - 
Chattel mortgage equipment loan 
facility 

102,990 102,990 497,785 - 

Construction loan facility 44,643 598,531 - - 
Hadrian lease finance facility 330,215 330,215 1,470,358 - 
Research & development tax 
refund loan  4,102,423 - - - 

Total 8,284,627 1,782,461 2,861,733  - 

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities in the previous 
reporting periods as follows:  

Current Non-current 
Within 6 
months 6 - 12 months 1 - 5 years 5+ years 

$ $ $ $ 
30 June 2022 
Trade and other payables 3,551,122  - -  - 
Lease liabilities 643,235 643,236 731,420  - 
Chattel mortgage equipment loan 
facility 

102,990 102,990 703,765 - 

Construction loan facility 337,672 970,832 - - 
Hadrian lease finance facility 330,215 330,215 2,130,787 - 
Research & development tax 
refund loan  

4,192,822 - - - 

Total  9,158,056 2,047,273 3,565,972  - 

The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which may differ to the 
carrying values of the liabilities at the reporting date. F
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32.  Fair value measurement 

Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The Directors have performed a review of the financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2023 and 
have concluded that the fair value of those assets and liabilities are not materially different to book 
values. The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments were: 

 Cash - The carrying amount is fair value due to the liquid nature of these assets. 

 Receivables/payables - Due to the short-term nature of these financial rights and 
obligations, their carrying values are estimated to represent their fair values and equals the 
amount to be settled by the contracting party. 

 

33.  Events after the reporting date 

17 July 2023 – The Company issued a Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) advising 
Shareholders that a meeting will be held at the Mount Lawley Golf Club on 21 August 2023 at 
11:00AM (AWST). The Company is seeking Shareholder approval to ratify equity placements 
undertaken by the Company in its capacity under Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.1A.  

19 July 2023 – The Company issued 23,080,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon exercise of unquoted 
employee performance rights that vested on achievement of performance milestones in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 

26 July 2023 – The Company issued 28,962,500 fully paid ordinary shares upon exercise of unquoted 
employee performance rights that vested on achievement of individual performance in accordance 
with the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan. 6,762,500 vested performance rights 
remain unconverted. 

31 July 2023 – Subsequent to the end of the quarter, FBR expanded its $4.0 million revolving R&D 
tax loan facility with FC Capital previously announced to the ASX on 13 May 2022 to $6.0 million, in 
line with the anticipated R&D tax incentive cash rebate of over $6.0 million for FY23. FBR has drawn 
down on the additional $2.0 million. Additional fees incurred were a $15,000 establishment fee for 
the expanded facility and an increase in interest rate of 1%. 

Other than the events described above there are no other adjusting or significant non-adjusting 
events that have occurred between reporting date and the date of authorisation. 
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34. Parent entity information

The following information relates to the legal parent entity of the Company, being FBR LTD (‘the 
Parent Entity’). The information presented has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as 
presented in Note 5.  

30 June 2023 30 June 2022 
$ $ 

Statement of financial position 
Current assets 11,202,842 10,707,828 
Non-current assets 34,410 38,711 
Total assets 11,237,252 10,746,539 
Current liabilities 4,453,646 4,644,163 
Non-current liabilities - 138,303
Total liabilities 4,453,646 4,782,466
Net assets 6,783,606 5,964,073 

Issued capital 171,432,118 139,154,851 
Reserves 5,802,820 3,496,596 
Retained losses (170,451,332) (136,687,374) 
Total equity 6,783,606 5,964,073 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: 
Loss for the year 33,763,958 15,708,942 
Other comprehensive income - - 
Total comprehensive income 33,763,958 15,708,942 

The Parent Entity has no capital commitments (2022: Nil). 

The Parent Entity has not entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee nor are there any contingent 
liabilities at the year end. 
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Directors’ Declaration 

1 In the opinion of the Directors of FBR LTD: 

a. The consolidated financial statements and notes of the Group are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001, including:

i. Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2023, and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

ii. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that FBR LTD will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

2 The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations 
Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer equivalent for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2023. 

3 Note 2 confirms that the consolidated financial statements also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 

Michael Pivac 

MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER - GLOBAL 

Dated the 29th day of August 2023 
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‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or 
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another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards 
Legislation. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of FBR Ltd 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of FBR Ltd (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 

comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the Directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2023 and of its performance 

for the year ended on that date; and 

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 

of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 

of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 

Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 3 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of 

$22,886,197 for the year ended 30 June 2023, and the Group’s net cash outflows from operating and investing 

activities totalled $27,652,713 for the year. As stated in Note 3, these events or conditions, along with other 

matters as set forth in Note 3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast doubt on the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 

the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 

report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters.  

In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we have 

determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Recognition of R&D tax incentive 

(Note 12) 

Under the research and development (R&D) tax 

incentive scheme, the Group receives a 43.5% 

refundable tax offset of eligible expenditure if its 

turnover is less than $20 million per annum, 

provided it is not controlled by income tax-exempt 

entities.  

An R&D plan is filed with AusIndustry in the 

following financial year and based on this filing, the 

Group receives the incentive in cash. Management 

performed a detailed review of the Group’s total 

R&D expenditure to estimate the refundable tax 

offset receivable under the R&D tax incentive 

legislation. As at 30 June 2023, a receivable of 

$8,768,251 has been recorded.  

This area is a key audit matter due to the size of the 

receivable and the degree of judgement and 

interpretation of the R&D tax legislation required by 

management to assess the eligibility of the R&D 

expenditure under the scheme.  

Our procedures included, amongst others: 

• obtaining a detailed understanding of the underlying

processes for claiming the R&D rebate through

discussion with relevant individuals across the

organisation and review of relevant documentation;

• assessing the work performed by management’s

expert, including the expert’s competence, capability,

and objectivity;

• engaging our internal specialist as auditor’s expert to

assist in reviewing the reasonableness of the eligibility

of expenditure and the calculation;

• testing a sample of R&D expenditure within the

computation to underlying supporting documentation to

assess its eligibility;

• comparing the eligible expenditure used in the

receivable calculation to the expenditure recorded in

the general ledger;

• inspecting copies of relevant correspondence with

AusIndustry and the ATO related historic claims; and

• assessing the appropriateness of financial statement

disclosures.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2023, but does not include the financial report and our 

auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 

control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board website at:  http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1_2020.pdf.This 

description forms part of our auditor’s report.  

Report on the remuneration report 

Responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 

in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 

Chartered Accountants 

M D Dewhurst 

Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Sydney, 29 August 2023 

Opinion on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 25 of the Directors’ report for the year 

ended 30 June 2023.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of FBR Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2023 complies with section 

300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
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